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Financial Summary
   
$millions except where indicated Jun 06  Jun 05

Sales Revenue  424.2    408.4 

Underlying Earnings Before Interest and Tax*  27.2    31.2 

Net Interest  5.4    4.8 

Underlying Net Profi t Before Tax*  21.8    26.4 

Specifi c Items  2.9    8.1 

Net Profi t Before Tax  18.9    18.3 

Tax  5.5    3.7 

Net Profi t After Tax  13.4    14.6 

Cents per share   

Earnings per share (EPS) 11.0  12.3

Diluted EPS 10.7  12.1

Underlying EPS* 13.3  15.8

Dividend per share 13.0  13.0

* Adjusted for specifi c items

Underlying EBIT by sub-segment 2006  2005

Electrical 33.5  28.5

Homewares -4.6  4.8

Sub-total 28.9  33.3

Corporate -1.7  -2.1

Total underlying EBIT 27.2  31.2

Australia 10.2  22.3

International 18.7  11.0

Sub-total 28.9  33.3

Corporate -1.7  -2.1

Total underlying EBIT 27.2  31.2

*  Breville’s Moda Kettle BKE450 won best 

Small Kitchen Appliance, Value Category, 

in Australian Home Beautiful Product of 

the Year Awards 2006



Chairman’s Review
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We are now an emerging international electrical appliance 
company with complementary homewares brands.

“The company is at a defi ning cross road in its history; where substantial work has been done to;

 •  Redefi ne its Australian business to be able to deliver sustainable and profi table growth in an extremely 
competitive market; 

 •  And, with a resulting strengthened balance sheet, grow its international business to take advantage of strong 
development opportunities in attractive offshore markets”.

During the last eighteen months, the company has transformed the focus of its business. This has meant a radical 
rationalization and reduction of its Australian business, particularly Homewares, whilst strengthening its product 
innovation platform, to take advantage of strong offshore growth opportunities with its key brands.

Accordingly, during this important period of transition and tough trading conditions, whilst offshore sales and 
earnings have been rapidly increasing, they have been necessarily offset by an earnings reduction in Australia. 

During the 2006 fi nancial year the group’s turnover increased by 3.9% to $424.2m. Offshore sales, which now 
represents a third of the group, grew by 35.8% to $153.0m, whilst Australia’s rationalized sales reduced by 8.3%. 

Similarly, whilst underlying group EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) declined by $4.0m to $27.2m, offshore 
EBIT increased by 70% to $18.7m. 

Underlying PAT for 2006 was $16.1m, which compares to last year’s comparative of $18.7m. Tax affected 
signifi cant items of $2.7m were incurred during the year, principally to cover previously foreshadowed restructure 
costs across the Homewares and Sabco business units. The resultant reported PAT for 2006 is $13.4m, which 
compares to the 2005 comparative of $14.6m. 

Aided by the restructuring, the company has effi ciently managed its working capital and balance sheet to deliver a 
strong operating cash fl ow of $30.4m for 2006 (2005 $4.3m). The closing net debt was $63.8m, which is $10.3m 
down on last year and represents a conservative 28.8% net debt to capital employed ratio.

This strengthened balance sheet has enabled the board to maintain the fi nal dividend at 3.5 cents per share, 
which brings the full year dividend to 13 cents per share, fully franked, which is consistent with last year’s 
dividend payment.

Leadership and thanks

In recognition of his important contribution to the changing landscape, it gave the board much pleasure to appoint 
Joe Hersch as managing director and CEO at last year’s AGM. I would also like to pass my thanks to Mark Kirkby, 
our CFO, who will be leaving the company upon the relocation of the company’s corporate offi ce to Sydney. He 
has played an important role in our offshore development and the Australian re-engineering task. 

Further, we were sorry to accept Bill Wavish’s resignation, as chairman and director, upon his appointment to 
the Myer leadership. We again thank him for his valued support and encouragement. It is the board’s intention to 
appoint another non-executive director and I have agreed to accept the chairman’s position during this process. 

Finally, I would like to thank my board colleagues, our dedicated staff and our investors for all their support during 
2006. Although 2006 has been a challenging year of change for us as a company, it has also helped to deliver new 
and exciting future opportunities for all of our stakeholders.

John Schmoll
Chairman



Chief Executive Offi cer’s Review

Group sales for 2006 grew by 3.9% to 
$424.2m. Strong offshore sales growth 
of 35.8% was delivered principally 
from our USA and Hong Kong export 
businesses, was offset by declining 
sales in Australia, resulting from 
increased competition and our strategy 
to exit certain categories. 

The tightening Australian retail market 
slowed our planned Homewares 
product rationalization initiatives 
announced in November to the extent 
that cost savings anticipated in fi nancial 
year (FY) 2006 will now manifest 
themselves in FY 2007. Both margins 
and operating costs were impacted by 
our delayed rationalization plans. It is 
envisaged that once the rationalization 
is complete, substantial cost savings 
should occur. 

Operating margins in the offshore 
business units has increased as these 
projects gain critical mass in their core 
markets. Operating expenditure has 
been held largely in line with last year 
as business units look to leverage 
cost savings and effi ciencies into their 
business units to offset weaker sales 
and contribution margins. 

The resultant underlying PAT for 2006, 
at $16.1m is 13.9% down on last year’s 
comparative of $18.7m. During the 
year, the company incurred signifi cant 
items of $2.7m (tax effected) principally 
for previously foreshadowed restructure 
costs for Housewares Australia and 
Sabco. Reported PAT, after signifi cant 
items, at $13.4m is down 8.2% on last 
year’s reported PAT of $14.6m.

The company has applied astute 
working capital measures during tough 
times to deliver an excellent operating 
cash fl ow result. Operating cash fl ow 
at $30.4m compares to last year’s 
comparative of $4.3m and was driven 
by a $19.6m reduction in inventories. 

The positive cash fl ow was applied to acquire Britette, to add a commercial arm to 
Sabco’s retail operations, and the balance applied to pay down debt. 

Net debt fi nished the year at $63.8m, which is $10.3m down on last year’s 
comparative and net debt represents 28.8% of capital employed. The company 
is therefore in good fi nancial shape with a strong balance sheet to work from as a 
platform for business development opportunities during the 2007 year.

Review of operations

During the past two years, the company has been transforming its business focus 
towards product development, rather than direct sourcing, to support its strong 
market positions in Australia and New Zealand and take advantage of exciting and 
growing business opportunities in North America and Internationally. 

In line with this transformation, the company has;

• Built and staffed a world class product development centre in Sydney, Australia.

•  Established effi cient product procurement and quality assurance centres in Hong 
Kong and Shanghai.

•  Employed experienced marketing and sales executives in its key business 
markets around the world.

•  Maintained effi cient IT platforms and administration processes to support growth 
initiatives both locally and abroad. 

This strategic direction, both from a product development and business 
management objective, is being pursued on the back of solid fi nancial management 
objectives to be able to deliver value to our shareholders.

 2006 Highlights

>  Group sales increased by 3.9% to $424.2m

>  Offshore sales grew by 35.8% to $153.0m

>  Underlying profi t after tax of $16.1m, with signifi cant 
offshore earnings increase being offset in Australia 
through tough local trading conditions and the impact 
of rationalisation initiatives

>  Strong operating cash fl ow of $30.4m for the year 
and a conservative net debt to capital employed 
ratio of 28.8% Prudent working capital management 
resulted in strong cash fl ows

>  A total dividend for the year, fully franked, of 13.0 
cents per share

2 Housewares International 

 This has been a particularly challenging yet exciting year for our 
company. Whilst we have been rationalizing and restructuring the 
Australian Homewares Division, we have aggressively been 
increasing our Electrical product innovation and development 
capacity in order to support our strong market positions in 
Australasia and to take advantage of growth opportunities offshore.



Homewares

28%

Electrical

72%

International

36%

Australia

64%

Australia

35%

International

65%

Sales % Share

Profit % Share*

*Underlying EBIT excluding 
corporate costs
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Australia and New Zealand

The Australian and New Zealand retail markets came under increased pressure in 
the second half of the fi nancial year as record petrol prices and talk of higher interest 
rates depressed consumer confi dence.

Negative consumer sentiment and a deliberate effort to complete our previously 
announced product range rationalization in the Homewares division caused 
Australian sales to fall by 7.6% during 2006. Falling sales negatively impacted on 
profi tability and the negative trending was compounded through gross margin 
pressures, resulting from increased raw material costs, particularly for steel and 
plastics, which impacted all business units.

The Australian Electrical division, which is currently the major revenue and profi t 
driver for the group, managed its operating costs astutely to deliver a credible 
profi t result, despite the tough trading conditions. This division remains strongly 
committed to innovation and new product development. Talented industrial 
designers and engineers are being added to our team in Sydney, in order to support 
the increased demand for Breville “Best of Class” product, both in Australia and in 
overseas markets. 

The Australian Homewares division has largely completed the restructure of its 
business base away from promotional driven commodity product to core product, 
developed as part of an “innovative retail solutions package”. While retailer 
response, both locally and abroad, has been positive towards new product range 
developments, the weak retail environment has delayed residual inventory clearance 
objectives and associated occupancy cost savings. 

Sabco is looking to grow its business signifi cantly during 2007. Important sales 
initiatives with key Australian retailers, planned for 2006 fi nancial year were delayed 
and will now materialise in fi nancial year 2007.
The retail product range has been revitalized and with the acquisition of Britette, 
the division will increase its importance in the commercial market. Exposure to both 
the retail and commercial sectors allows the company to leverage effi ciencies into 
its profi tability. 

Offshore business units

In stark contrast to diffi cult trading conditions in Australia, the offshore business 
units enjoyed a year of strong growth as the company’s targeted new product 
development and marketing initiatives yielded successful outcomes. Consistent 
supply from China will be critical to achieving continued growth in these markets.

The Hong Kong export business has secured new markets and customers during 
the year, where innovative product is sold into the international market on an “OEM 
basis”. Operating costs associated with these export sales are kept to a minimum, 
thereby securing maximum profi t contribution from this valuable revenue stream. 
The Hong Kong offi ce also delivers an outstanding quality assurance service to 
group companies and export customers.
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Chief Executive Offi cer’s Review continued

The Breville brand has continued to 
gain increased market acceptance in 
the very competitive North American 
market. A growing range of innovative 
Breville product is now ranged by 
leading North American retailers 
such as Williams-Sonoma, Macys, 
Bloomingdales, Crate & Barrel, Bed 
Bath & Beyond, Home Outfi tter and 
The Bay. 

The recent Chicago Homewares 
Fair was an absolute highlight for 
the company. It presented the North 
American business operations with a 
platform to showcase the company’s 
innovative product development 
credentials and establish strategic 
business relations with some of the 
world’s leading retail chains. 

Infrastructure support and astute 
working capital management have 
given this business a good foundation 
for 2007, from which it should be able 
to continue to pursue profi table sales 
growth in the region. 

Conclusion

As the focus of the group moves more 
towards the bigger Electrical division 
and as Electrical growth initiatives gain 
strong momentum in offshore markets, 
it is appropriate that the corporate 
offi ce be moved from Melbourne to 
Sydney. This will be completed during 
the fi nancial year and Sydney will then 
become the corporate and product 
development hub, for both Electrical 
and Homewares. Port Melbourne 
will remain the national sales and 
operations centre maintaining control 
over sales and operational support for 
both Homewares and Sabco. 

Despite the challenges faced this 
year and some challenges that are 
still on the horizon for next year, we 
are entering an exciting phase in 
our company’s history as we move 
towards transforming our business 

I am proud to be leading an Australian company delivering 
innovation and best of class product into world markets.

into a global company. While Australia 
will always be our primary market 
and the home of our innovation and 
product development resources, the 
opportunities to grow our international 
businesses represents an important 
and exciting opportunity to rebuild 
shareholder value back into our 
business.

We are a great team and I would like 
to thank all my colleagues in Australia 
/ New Zealand / Hong Kong / North 
America for their support, passion and 
commitment to our vision. I would also 
like to acknowledge the contribution 
made by our Homewares staff in 
embracing change in order to assist 
the company in resetting its sails. 
A fi nal vote of thanks to our suppliers 
and shareholders for their support.

Joe Hersch
Chief Executive Offi cer



HWI Annual Report 2006 5

 04 05 06

Sales Australia

AUD$m

 04 05 06

Sales USA

AUD$m

 04 05 06

Sales Other markets

AUD$m

200

250

300

350

40

60

80

100

50

60

70

80

 The strategy to build an international electrical appliance company 
will greatly benefi t our Australian home base, because product 
developed for the world will be available for Australian customers.

Breville design and innovation
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Building an international reputation

A power brand

“ So much thought has gone into 
this product. Beautifully executed, 
great attention to detail, superb 
mouldings and a lovely aesthetic.”

  Australian Design Awards 2006



An exciting story internationally

HWI’s electrical business continues to 
go from strength to strength on the 
international scene. Breville’s direct 
presence in North America, established 
in 2003, continues to pay healthy 
dividends as an assortment featuring 
the best in Australian innovation and 
European style design, backed by a 
focused marketing and distribution 
strategy, realizes year on year revenue 
gains. Throughout Europe, South Africa 
and Asia, HWI’s electrical assortment 
has also struck a cord with retailers 
and wholesalers alike, with electrical 
products now distributed in over 20 
countries.

The market leader in Australia

In April 2006, Gfk, an independent 
market research organisation, recognised 
Breville’s leadership of seven market 
categories in 2005, namely coffee 
makers, juicers, sandwich makers, 
toasters, blenders, bread makers and 
rice cookers. Breville also lead in the 
race for the prestigious Australian 
Design Awards with the Juice Fountain 
range again receiving top honours 
in this year’s event. The Australian 
market continues to show slow growth, 
so competition for market share will 
remain intense. 

Innovation is the key

Always with the consumer in mind, 
we develop new ways to do things at 
home that couldn’t be done before. 
To achieve this we use innovation 
to develop products that have the 
performance and refi nement people 
need. Innovation is the engine of our 
growth and is what differentiates us 
from our competitors.

Chicago homewares fair, a great result

This March, the homewares world congregated in Chicago at the IHA Show to 
see all that’s new in the industry. It was a record attendance at the Breville booth, 
where retailers from all over North America studied Breville’s growing assortment 
and placed forward orders for Christmas and the New Year. The excitement and 
commitments from retailers big and small suggests Breville North America will fi nish 
with yet another strong result in 2006/07.
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Williams-Sonoma. Best of breed product retailer.

Celebrating their 50th year in business, Williams-Sonoma’s 270 store chain 
is arguably the world’s premiere merchandiser of kitchen products. With 
awe-inspiring window displays, stringent quality testing, and industry leading 
customer service, consumers see items displayed in Williams Sonoma as the 
gold standard in quality and design. They, along with premium department 
stores such as Macys and Bloomingdales, have embraced Breville as 
their brand of choice, building equity for the brand that lays down a strong 
foundation for future growth.

“ Our brands are among the best known and most respected 
in the industry.” Williams-Sonoma website
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A powerful brand portfolio

Our core market

Today Sabco develops products for the 
modern consumer with a close focus 
upon dynamic product innovation. 

Our core market

Consumer research recently 
commissioned demonstrates the 
strength of the HWI electrical brand 
portfolio with Breville spanning the 
mid to upper price positioning and 
Kambrook unchallenged as the 
‘trading up’ alternative. Breville Home 
has demonstrated the strength of the 
Breville brand when stretched across 
non-electric to make a complete home 
offer. In Homewares the HWI offer 
extends across strong kitchenware 
brands such as Arcosteel and 
Baccarat, and in cleaning Sabco.

Arcosteel 

Arcosteel is the fi rst brand in Australia 
to offer a comprehensive, design-led 
kitchenware range at affordable prices 
in a retail solution. Arcosteel’s Prep, 
Cook, Serve, Store concept offers four 
co-ordinated groupings of product for 
a more enjoyable, structured and stylish 
kitchen experience.

Sabco

This year Sabco launched a soft 
colour-coordinated cleaning range for 
the domestic market and a commercial 
range for the hardware distribution 
channel. 

Kambrook

Kambrook has a far wider product 
repertoire than Breville, with heritage 
in categories like heating and fl oorcare 
in addition to its kitchen offer. This 
enables HWI to be price competitive 
across a broad market range. Kambrook 
will continue to provide the trade with 
volume leadership products, generating 
store traffi c and building unit sales.
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Philips is a dominant brand, particularly in core categories 
such as grooming and garment care

Philips

The Philips distribution business 
continues to grow from strength to 
strength with HWI. Awarded Gfk Market 
Leadership 2005 in male shaving, 
Philips enjoys almost 50% value share 
in this category. Male shaving drives the 
key gift giving sales peaks of Christmas 
and Fathers’ Day overall, and in the 
critical department store trade channel 
in particular.

In Ironing, Philips has over 20% value 
share. Philips products offer industry 
leading technology, supported by 
powerful TV and in-store activity. New 
growth areas such as the ‘steam 
station’ segment will enable consistent 
growth into the future. During 2005 
Philips launched an exciting new single 
serve coffee concept ‘Senseo’.



Design and innovation 
powers the future

Design and Engineering Innovation
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Continued Investment in Design 
and Engineering

Over the past year we have seen a 
signifi cant increase in the demand for 
HWI designed products from within 
North America and Europe. We believe 
that the growth of these markets 
has been the result of our continued 
investment into our product design 
and engineering capabilities. We are 
committed to developing high quality, 
high performing, innovative new 
products for our customers.

HWI recognises that this commitment 
is not sustainable unless we maintain a 
balanced objective to foster all aspects 
of our own design, engineering, quality 
and manufacturing skills equally within 
our business. We also must ensure that 
we continue to invest in infrastructure 
to support these core competencies.

Throughout 2005/06 HWI has 
continued to expand the size of its 
design, engineering and quality teams 
in order to meet the increasing number 
of new product releases demanded 
by our new businesses. We have also 
sought to improve our knowledge base 
within these teams to better understand 
the differing product requirements 
and consumer needs of our emerging 
markets.

HWI has also completed the 
development of a new product 
testing facility within the Sydney 
Design Centre to further enhance our 
development testing capabilities and 
our commitment to improve product 
performance and quality.

HWI continues to provide management 
and technical support to enhance 
product quality and build production 
capacity within our key supplier 
partnerships to meet the increasing 
demand for our new products.

With more global product releases 
planned over the coming fi nancial year 
HWI expects to continue to invest in its 
product development future.

HWI Awards 2006

Breville BJE200 Juice Fountain

Australian Design Award 2006
´´´

 Breville Home mixing bowl

Australian Design Award 2006
´´´

Breville 800ES 
Espresso Machine

‘Best in Category’
2006 Housewares Design 

Awards, New York 
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Breville 800ES 
Espresso Machine 
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The power to grow international 
and domestic markets

Australia Remains Core

While North America and other export 
markets continue to grow rapidly, HWI 
is still calling Australia home, both 
strategically and fi nancially. With 66% 
of gross revenues generated on 
home soil. 

In Australia’s changing retail landscape, 
HWI continues to increase its emphasis 
on innovation and differentiated design 
to compete with direct sourcing. 
Developing innovation has always been 
a core competency, and in continuing 
to expand this activity, HWI are mindful 
that Australia must remain the key 

North
America

South Africa Australia

Hong Kong

Shanghai

New Zealand

France

“ The 2006 Chicago Homewares fair was an absolute highlight for our 
company. Our new innovative products were well received by North 
American retailers and strong strategic alliances have been forged 
with some of the world’s leading retail chains.” Joe Hersch CEO

International Operations

motivator for such development. 
Strategically, the design and sourcing 
arms of the electrical and housewares 
businesses continue to work as closely 
as ever with both Australian retailers, 
and the Australian consumer, to ensure 
that product development will generate 
maximum returns in the home market. 

North America is Strong

Canada and the U.S.A. continue to 
be the biggest growth areas for the 
business, driven not just by ongoing 
success of Breville, but by a substantial 
turn around in housewares sales in 
both markets. A strategic 

focus on core retailers in housewares 
such as Albertsons and Walmart has 
paid dividends with improving sales 
and margins in most categories. 
In the electrical business, Breville’s 
growth has been substantial, fuelled 
by gains in distribution, an expanded 
assortment, and growing brand equity. 
Breville is now fi rmly positioned as 
one of the more premium brands in 
the North American kitchen electrics 
market, while the housewares business 
is focused primarily on differentiated 
items at the price entry end of most 
categories. 

HWI core market
North America 
Growing markets



Export Growth

+54%
US Growth

+65%

The company’s 
future strategy is 
for a more global 
focus on specifi c 
international 
opportunities for 
key brands.

Homewares

28%

Electrical

72%

International

36%

Australia

64%

Sales % Share

Other markets are growing

HWI’s approach to foreign markets is both adaptive and cost-effi cient. Unlike larger 
competitors, who can be more rigid in their international approach, HWI have 
implemented varying strategies for varying markets. In the U.S.A., Canada and New 
Zealand, domestic offi ces, sales teams and, in most cases, warehouse operations, 
have been fi rmly established. In Europe and Asia, HWI Electrical has continued to 
grow sales through supplying product to distributors on an OEM basis. And in other 
key markets, such as South Africa, Breville deals directly with key retailers realizing 
sales and brand equity gains with a minimum of infrastructural investment. All 
strategies have proved successful, with total export growth fi nishing over 50% for 
the fi nancial year. 

The Hong Kong and Shanghai operations continue to be the hubs for global Q.C., 
export sales, and import operations, and are a major competitive advantage of 
HWI’s business both internationally and domestically. 
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Financial strength

Balance sheet strength 

HWI has worked consistently through 
the year to ensure that the balance 
sheet of the business is strong and 
appropriate for market conditions.

This has been particularly the case 
with working capital management.

Most pleasing is the reduction in 
inventories from $106.1m in 2005 to 
$86.4m, despite the increased turnover. 
This results from more streamlined 
supply chain management processes 
and rapid responses to changing 
market conditions.

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2006

 Jun 2006 Jun 2005
  (A$m)  (A$m) 

Inventories 86.4 106.1

Receivables 77.7 70.0

Payables & Provisions (48.3) (46.3)

Working Capital 115.8 129.8

Fixed Assets 10.5 10.7

Intangibles 82.8 76.6

Investments 8.8 6.6

Other (NET) 3.7 4.7

Capital Employed 221.6 228.4

 

Receivable have increased in line with 
the increased turnover, but overall 
there has been a reduction in capital 
employed by $6.8m.

This has allowed the company to 
generate an operating cash fl ow of 
$30.4m, which has been used to 
fund the acquisition of the Britette 
commercial cleaning business and 
to reduce debt.

Dividend to be maintained

As noted in the chairman’s review, 
the strong operating cash fl ow has 
also allowed HWI to maintain the full 
year dividend at 13 cents per share, 
fully franked, in line with last year.



15HWI Annual Report 2006

Financial Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2006

 16 Directors’ Report

 27 Corporate Governance Statement

 31 Income Statement

 32 Balance Sheet

 33 Statement of Changes in Equity

 34 Cash Flow Statement

 35 Notes to the Financial Statements

 93 Directors’ Declaration

 94 Independent Audit Report

 96 Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration

 97 Shareholder Information

 98 Company Directory



16 Housewares International

Board of Directors
The names and details of the 
Company’s directors in offi ce during 
the year end until the date of this report 
are as follows. Directors were in offi ce 
for this entire period unless indicated 
otherwise.

John Schmoll
Non-Executive Chairman,
(12 April 2006 – Present)
Non-Executive Director,
(1 July 2005 – 12 April 2006)
B.Com, FCA, FAICD, CFTP

Mr Schmoll is a former Chief Financial 
Offi cer of Coles Myer Limited. He 
has an extensive career in retail and 
distribution services including that of 
Finance Director with the Edgars Group, 
South Africa’s largest apparel and 
household goods retailer. Mr Schmoll is 
currently Principal of John Schmoll and 
Associates, specialising in corporate 
advisory and executive support 
services. Apart from the following listed 
companies, Mr Schmoll has also been 
a director of Golden Circle Ltd since 
April 2005.

During the last three years he has 
served as a director of the following 
other listed companies:
● AWB Limited (since March 2005)#

● Australian Leisure and Hospitality 
Limited

● OrotonGroup Ltd (since November 
2005) #

● Chandler Macleod Ltd (since 
December 2005) #

# denotes current directorship

Joseph Hersch
Managing Director,
(24 November 2005 – Present)
Executive Director,
(1 July 2005 – 24 November 2005)
CA(SA), CPA

Mr Hersch is managing director of the 
HWI group. He has over twenty years 
experience in the consumer products 
industry in Australia.

During the last three years he has not 
served as a director of any other listed 
company.

Steven Fisher
Non-Executive Director,
B.ACC, CA(SA)

Mr Fisher has more than 20 years 
experience in general management 
positions in the wholesale consumer 
goods industry and is currently general 
manager of the Voyager Group. 
Mr Fisher is chairman of the audit & risk 
committee.

During the last three years he has not 
served as a director of any other listed 
company.

Steven Klein
Non-Executive Director,
LLB, B.Com

Mr Klein has had extensive legal 
experience in mergers and acquisitions, 
capital raisings, and public company 
takeovers. Mr Klein has been a partner 
of Arnold Bloch Leibler since 1996.

During the last three years he has 
not served as a director of any other 
listed company.

John McConnell
Non-Executive Director,
B.Com, FAICD, FAIM, F.Fin

Mr McConnell has had over 35 years 
experience in banking and fi nance with 
ANZ Banking Group in Australia, New 
Zealand, and the United Kingdom, and 
has held various board positions within 
that Group. Mr McConnell is chairman of 
the remuneration committee.

During the last three years he has 
served as a director of the following 
other listed companies:

● Equity Trustees Limited 
(since January 2002)#

● HarvestRoad Limited (Chairman) 
(since March 2005) #

● ASG Group Ltd 
(since November 2005) #

# denotes current directorship

Former directors

William Wavish
Non-Executive Chairman,
(24 November 2005 – Resigned, 
12 April 2006)
Executive Chairman,
(1 July 2005 – 24 November 2005)
CMA(NZ), CA(NZ), ACIS, ANZIM

Mr Wavish is a former director of 
Woolworths Limited, where he held 
numerous senior management and 
board positions, including being the 
director responsible for the Woolworths 
Supermarkets Group and Finance 
Director. Mr Wavish has worked in 
Asia and Australia in the food, fi nance, 
property and general merchandise 
sectors. Mr Wavish agreed to become 
Executive Chairman for an interim period 
as the Group refocused. During the last 
three years he has served as a director 
of the following other listed companies:
● Woolworths Limited
● Babcock & Brown Capital Limited 

(since December 2004) #

● Atlas Group Holdings Limited
# denotes current directorship

Directors’ Report

The board of directors of Housewares International Limited (HWI 
or Company) has pleasure in submitting its report in respect of the 
year ended 30 June 2006.
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Mark Kirkby
Executive Director,
(1 July 2005 – Resigned, 24 November 
2005)
B.ACC, CA(SA)

Mr Kirkby was an executive director 
chiefl y responsible for the Finance 
and Administration functions and the 
Homewares division until his resignation 
as a director on 24 November 
2005. Mr Kirkby has continued in 
an executive capacity as general 
manager – corporate fi nance. Mr Kirkby 
has extensive fi nancial and general 
management experience, including 
holding senior roles in South Africa, 
Italy, and France, before immigrating to 
Australia. During the last three years he 
has not served as a director of any other 
listed company.

Company Secretaries

Laurelle Jackson
B.Bus, CPA

Ms Jackson has been company 
secretary for 4 years. She is a Certifi ed 
Practising Accountant and has, over the 
past 12 years, held senior fi nancial roles 
in a number of Australian consumer 
products companies.

Paul Milburn
B.Sc(Hons), CA

Mr Milburn has been company secretary 
since January 2006. He is a Chartered 
Accountant with over 20 years 
experience in senior commercial fi nance 
roles, including 17 years with the 
Breville group.

Reporting Currency 
and Rounding
The fi nancial report is presented in 
Australian dollars and all amounts have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollar ($’000) unless otherwise stated 
under the option available to the 
Company under ASIC Class Order 
98/0100. The Company is an entity to 
which the class order applies.

Principal Activities
During the year, the principal activities 
of the consolidated entity were the 
innovation, development, marketing and 
distribution of small electrical appliances, 
homewares and cleaning products 
in the consumer products industry. 
The consolidated entity operated in 
the principal markets of Australia, the 
United States of America, Canada, New 
Zealand, and Hong Kong.

Company overview
The company has transformed the focus 
of its business operations, particularly 
during the last two years, towards 
innovative product development and the 
expansion of its Electrical business.

The underlying strategic intent of the 
company is a stated commitment to 
innovative product development, to 
drive sales growth in Australia and the 
broader international market. In line with 
this intent, the company has;
● built and staffed a world class product 

development centre in Sydney,
● maintained effi cient procurement and 

quality assurance centres in Hong 
Kong and Shanghai,

● employed experienced marketing and 
sales executives in its key markets 
around the world, and

● maintained effective administration 
processes to support growth initiatives 
on an international platform.

The result of this transformation is 
that an increasing proportion of the 
company’s earnings are being derived 
from the Electrical business and, in 
particular, the company’s offshore 
business units.

Performance indicators
Management and the board monitor the 
fi nancial performance of the company 
by measuring actual results against 
expectations, as developed through 
an annual business planning and 
budgeting process.

Appropriate key performance indicators 
(KPI’s) are used to monitor operating 
performance and management 
effectiveness.

Review of Operations
The 2006 year was challenging for the 
company. While important restructure 
initiatives needed to be completed 
in Australia, the company continued 
to invest in product innovation and 
development to support its market 
positions in Australia and New Zealand 
and take advantage of business growth 
opportunities offshore.

Australia
The company’s Australian businesses 
operate in an extremely competitive 
environment. The focus this year has 
been to upgrade product development 
capabilities, eliminate undifferentiated 
and non profi table product categories, 
and start to leverage operating 
effi ciencies into shared Homewares and 
Electrical infrastructures.

International
The company’s International businesses 
are operating in growing markets, which 
is providing them with the opportunity to 
build additional depth into established 
revenue streams. The company’s 
commitment to innovative new product 
development and investment in 
marketing will provide momentum to 
support exciting new growth initiatives 
that are planned for North America and 
other export markets.

Financial performance
Group sales grew 3.9% in 2006 to 
$424,186,000 (2005: $408,366,000). 
Sales in the offshore businesses grew 
by 35.8% to $153,005,000 (2005: 
$112,681,000), while diffi cult trading 
conditions in Australia and deliberate 
product realignment in Homewares 
Australia delivered a decline in sales 
of 8.3% to $271,181,000 (2005: 
$295,685,000).
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Review of Operations continued

Reported underlying profi t after tax is 
$16,145,000 (2005: $18,759,000). This 
is calculated after adjusting the profi t 
after tax for non-recurring charges. 
This predominately includes the 
previously foreshadowed restructure 
costs (including inventory clearance 
program) across the Homewares and 
SABCO business units of $2,550,000 
(2005: $6,431,000) before tax or 
$1,785,000 (2005: $4,384,000) after 
tax. It also includes the costs associated 
with the discontinuation of a supplier 
contract of $325,000 before tax or 
$228,000 after tax (2005: $nil), and 
reassessment of prior period tax of 
$772,000 (2005: $1,410,000). The 
prior year underlying profi t after tax also 
included the costs associated with an 
onerous lease contract in relation to 
the Rydalmere warehouse closure of 
$1,662,000 before tax or $1,163,000 
after tax. The resultant reported 
profi t after tax is $13,360,000 (2005: 
$14,622,000).

The basic earnings per share was 10.99 
cents per share (2005: 12.33 cents per 
share) and diluted earnings per share 
was 10.74 cents per share (2005: 12.09 
cents per share).

Financial position
Careful working capital management 
delivered a strong operating cash 
fl ow of $30,430,000 for 2006 (2005: 
$4,352,000) and proceeds were used 
to fund the acquisition of the commercial 
cleaning business of Britette Australia 
Pty Ltd and to reduce borrowings. 
Net debt completed the year at 
$63,817,000 (2005: $74,141,000), 
which is $10,324,000 down on 2005 
and represents 28.8% debt to capital 
employed ratio.

Prudent working capital management 
resulted in strong cash fl ows; allowing 
the board to declare a fully franked fi nal 
dividend of 3.5 cents (2005: 3.5 cents) 
per share, which brings the full year 
dividend up to 13.0 cents per share, 
which is unchanged from 2005.

Risk management
The company’s risk management 
is discussed in the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Dividends
The following dividends have been 
paid, declared or recommended since 
the end of the preceding year. The 
payment of dividends is subject to 
shareholder participation in the dividend 
reinvestment plan.

  Cents per
  ordinary share $’000

Final dividends recommended:  3.5 4,321

Dividends paid in the year:

Interim dividend paid  9.5 11,533

Previous year fi nal dividend paid  3.5 4,212

Signifi cant Changes in the 
State of Affairs
There were no other signifi cant changes 
in the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity that occurred during the year that 
have not otherwise been disclosed in 
this report or the consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

Directors’ Interests
As at the date of this report, the interests 
of the directors in the shares, options, 
or other instruments of Housewares 
International Limited were:

   Options
   over
  Ordinary Ordinary
   Shares  Shares

J Schmoll  10,000 –

J Hersch  2,143,292 1,166,666

S Klein  109,081 –

S Fisher  267 –

J McConnell  62,847 –

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Remuneration Report
This report outlines the compensation 
arrangements in place for directors and 
executives of Housewares International 
Limited.

Compensation philosophy
The performance of the company 
depends upon the quality of its 
directors and executives. To prosper the 
company must attract, retain, motivate 
and develop highly skilled directors 
and executives in order to secure the 
longevity of the business.

Based on this philosophy, the company 
embodies in its compensation strategy 
and framework a total rewards approach 
that joins two interrelated outcomes: 
improved business results and a focus 
on a performance based culture.

The following principles defi ne the 
compensation framework:
● Provision of competitive rewards 

(in terms of fi xed and variable pay) 
to attract high calibre and adept 
executives;

● Return and benefi t to the shareholder 
and linking of executive reward to 
shareholder value and business 
results;

● Drive desired value creation and 
desired behaviours in the workforce, 
including establishment of demanding 
performance hurdles in relation to 
variable executive compensation; and

● Reinforcement of the overall business 
strategy and organisational success

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee of the 
board of directors of the company 
is responsible for determining and 
reviewing the total compensation 
arrangements for directors and the 
senior executive team.

The remuneration committee assesses 
the appropriateness of the nature 
and amount of compensation of 
key management personnel on an 

annual basis by reference to relevant 
performance, market conditions and by 
also taking into consideration internal 
relativities.

Compensation structure
In accordance with best practice 
corporate governance, the structure 
of non executive and senior executive 
compensation is separate and distinct.

Non-executive director 
compensation
Objective
The board seeks to set aggregate 
compensation at a level which provides 
the company with the ability to attract 
and retain directors of high calibre, whilst 
incurring a cost which is acceptable to 
shareholders.

Structure
The Constitution and the ASX Listing 
Rules specify that the aggregate 
compensation of non-executive directors 
shall be determined from time to time 
by a general meeting. An amount not 
exceeding the amount determined is 
then divided by the board between the 
directors. The aggregate compensation 
of $300,000 per year was approved 
by shareholders at the annual general 
meeting held in November 2002.

The compensation of non-executive 
directors is reviewed annually.

Each director receives a fee for being a 
director of the company. An additional 
fee is also paid for each director who 
also acts as chairperson of a board 
committee. The payment of additional 
fees for acting as chairman of a 
committee recognises the additional 
time commitment required by the 
director to facilitate the running of the 
committee.

The compensation of non-executive 
directors for the year ended 30 June 
2006 is detailed in Table 1 on page 22 
of this report.

Senior executive compensation
Objective
The company aims to remunerate and 
reward executives with a level and mix of 
compensation commensurate with their 
position and responsibilities within the 
company and to:
● Reward executives for company and 

individual performance against specifi c 
targets set with reference to business 
objectives and results;

● Align the interest, focus and 
performance of the executives with 
those of the shareholders;

● Offer performance based incentives 
that encourage executives to strive for 
the achievement of both individual and 
divisional results;

● Attract and retain talented executives; 
and

● Ensure total compensation is 
competitive by market standards.

Structure
In determining the level and make-
up of executive compensation, the 
remuneration committee engages 
an external consultant on an annual 
basis to provide independent advice 
in the form of a written report detailing 
market levels of compensation for 
comparable executives roles across 
all global locations. The group human 
resources manager provides a summary 
of the report and recommendations 
to the remuneration committee for 
consideration.

It is the remuneration committee’s 
policy that employment contracts are 
entered into with the executive directors. 
Details of the contracts are provided on 
page 21.

Compensation consists of the following 
key elements:
● Fixed Compensation
● Variable Compensation

> Short Term Incentive (STI); and
>  Long Term Incentive (LTI)



20 Housewares International

Remuneration Report continued

The proportion of the fi xed 
compensation and variable 
compensation (potential short 
term and long term incentives) is 
established for each senior executive 
by the remuneration committee.

Table 1 on page 22 of this report details 
the variable components (%) of the 
compensation of key management 
personnel of the Group.

Fixed Compensation
Objective
The level of fi xed compensation is 
set so as to provide a base level of 
compensation which is appropriate 
to the position and is competitive in 
the market.

Fixed compensation is reviewed 
annually by the remuneration committee 
and the process consists of reviewing 
performance, relevant comparative 
market compensation, internal relativities 
and, where appropriate, external advice 
on policies and practices. As noted 
above, the committee has access 
to external advice independent of 
management when required.

Structure
Senior executives are given the 
opportunity to receive their fi xed 
compensation in a variety of forms 
including cash and fringe benefi ts such 
as motor vehicles. It is intended that 
the manner of payment chosen will be 
optimal for the recipient without creating 
undue cost for the company.

Variable Compensation – Short 
Term Incentive (STI)
Objective
The objective of the STI program is 
to reward senior executives on the 
achievement of performance objectives, 
providing them with the opportunity 
to earn over and above their fi xed 
compensation should the agreed 
objectives be achieved. Executives are 
eligible to earn a percentage of their 

base pay, ranging from 10% to 30% 
based on their position and seniority 
in the organisation. The incentive 
payment is based on the achievement 
of individual and group objectives. This 
is determined on an individual executive 
basis.

The principal objectives of the plan are:
● to ensure that the organisation 

delivers its primary fi nancial measures 
and targets on an annual basis to 
deliver sustainable performance and 
continuing organisational growth;

● to achieve the business goals through 
rewarding individual contribution and 
performance; and

● to promote and facilitate the concept 
of shared ownership whereby 
executives who contribute to the 
success of the organisation will also 
share in that success.

The total potential STI available is set at a 
level so as to provide suffi cient incentive 
to the senior executives to achieve 
operational targets and such that the 
cost to the company is reasonable.

Structure
Actual STI payments to key management 
personnel are dependent on the extent 
to which the specifi c operating targets 
set at the commencement of the year 
are met. The operational targets consist 
of a number of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s) covering both 
fi nancial and non-fi nancial measures 
of performance. Typically included are 
measures such as earnings before 
interest and tax (EBIT) contribution, 
working capital management, employee 
development & staff training, customer 
service performance, and product 
development & category management. 
The company has predetermined 
benchmarks which must be met in order 
to trigger payments under the short term 
incentive scheme and these are varied 
on a yearly basis in line with the annual 
budgeting process.

On an annual basis, after consideration 
of performance against the established 
KPI’s, incorporating both individual 

and group objectives, a review is 
undertaken by the group human 
resources manager and managing 
director to determine the amount, if any, 
of the short term incentive payment 
each executive is eligible to receive. 
A recommendation by the managing 
director is then put to the remuneration 
committee for approval. The managing 
director may also award discretionary 
bonuses to the senior executive team for 
signifi cant contributions to the business 
and for outstanding performance. 
All discretionary bonuses are also 
presented as recommendations to the 
remuneration committee for approval.

The aggregate of the annual STI 
payments available for executives across 
the company is subject to the approval 
of the remuneration committee and 
payments are typically paid as a cash 
bonus.

Variable Compensation – Long 
Term Incentive (LTI)
Objective
The objective of the LTI plan is to reward 
senior executives in a manner that aligns 
this element of compensation with the 
creation of shareholder wealth.

The LTI scheme is only made available 
to executives and key managers who 
are able to infl uence the generation of 
shareholder wealth and have a direct 
impact on the company’s performance 
against relevant long term performance 
hurdles.

Structure
LTI grants to senior executives are 
provided in the form of options issued 
in accordance with the HWI Second 
Option Plan at the determination of the 
Managing Director and as approved by 
the Remuneration Committee.

The company uses normalised earnings 
per share (normalised EPS) as the 
performance hurdle for the long term 
incentive plan. The use of an EPS 
is market practice as it ensures an 
alignment between shareholder return 
and reward for the executives.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Relationship of rewards to 
performance
The performance hurdle to be achieved 
is based on the company’s normalised 
EPS achieving growth over a three 
year term, of at least 10% per annum, 
compounded annually. Options will vest 
only if this performance hurdle is met. If 
the normalised EPS growth condition is 
not achieved in any year, the normalised 
EPS growth for that year will be carried 
forward and recalculated at the end of 
the following year until the end of the 
term of the options. As a result, options 
may still vest and become exercisable 
where the vesting conditions are met in 
a subsequent year.

In assessing whether the performance 
hurdles have been met each year, the 
company receives independent data 
which provides the normalised EPS 
growth achieved for the year. If the 
performance hurdle has been met, the 
executive will be able to exercise options 
as follows:
● ¹⁄³ of the options issued, any 

time during the one year period 
commencing one year after the 
issue date;

● ¹⁄³ of the options issued, any 
time during the one year period 
commencing two years after the 
issue date;

● ¹⁄³ of the options issued, any 
time during the one year period 
commencing three years after the 
issue date.

The exercise price of the options is 
based on the volume weighted average 
price of all the company’s shares traded 
on the ASX on the fi ve trading days up 
to and including the issue date plus a 
premium of 11%.

Employment Contracts
Mr J. Hersch, Mr M. Kirkby and Mr J. 
Kelso are employed under contract. 
The details of the current contracts are 
provided below.

Mr. Joseph Hersch
The current employment contract 
commenced on 1 July 2005 and 
terminates on 30 June 2007. Under the 
terms of the present contract:
● Mr Hersch may resign by giving six 

month’s written notice.
● The group may terminate this 

employment agreement by providing 
twelve months written notice or 
provide payment in lieu of the notice 
period (based on the fi xed component 
of Mr Hersch’s compensation).

● The group may terminate the contract 
at any time without notice if serious 
misconduct has occurred. Where 
termination with cause occurs, Mr 
Hersch is only entitled to that portion 
of compensation which is fi xed, and 
only up to the date of termination.

Mr. Jeff Kelso
The current employment contract for Mr 
Kelso commenced on 1st September 
2005. Under the terms of the present 
contract:
● Mr Kelso may resign by giving six 

month’s written notice.
● The group may terminate this 

employment agreement by providing 
six months written notice or provide 
payment in lieu of the notice period 
(based on the fi xed component of Mr 
Kelso’s compensation).

● The group may terminate the contract 
at any time without notice if serious 
misconduct has occurred. Where 
termination with cause occurs, Mr 
Kelso is only entitled to that portion of 
compensation which is fi xed, and only 
up to the date of termination.

● Mr Kelso received a sign-on bonus 
of $500,000 when he commenced 
employment. If Mr Kelso terminates his 

employment during the fi rst two years 
from commencement, this sign on 
bonus is refundable to the group on 
a pro-rata basis.

● In addition to the terms and conditions 
of the current employment contract, 
Mr Kelso may be eligible to participate 
in a LTI plan measured over a fi ve 
year period to 30 June 2010. This 
incentive is calculated on reaching 
targeted sales growth and targeted 
gross margin contribution and EBIT 
to working capital ratio’s associated 
with the SABCO division. Due to this 
incentive being linked to future fi nancial 
data it is not possible to currently 
calculate any amount of incentive.

Mr. Mark Kirkby
The current employment contract for Mr 
Kirkby commenced on 1st June 2005. 
Under the terms of the present contract:
● Mr. Kirkby may resign by giving one 

month’s written notice.
● The group may terminate this 

employment agreement by providing 
one month’s notice and twelve 
months payment (based on the 
fi xed component of Mr Kirkby’s 
compensation).

● The group may terminate the contract 
at any time without notice if serious 
misconduct has occurred. Where 
termination with cause occurs, Mr 
Kirkby is only entitled to that portion of 
compensation which is fi xed, and only 
up to the date of termination.

Key Management Personnel
Other than as specifi ed in this report, 
none of the key management personnel 
have fi xed term employment contracts. 
Consequently, amounts payable on 
termination may vary from a minimum 
statutory entitlement to a maximum 
of 12 months. In accordance with the 
terms of the HWI Second Executive 
Option Plan any options not vested at 
the date of termination will be forfeited, 
unless otherwise determined by the 
Board.
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Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Table 1: Compensation of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 June 2006 (Consolidated) (Audited)
  Post-     Total
  employ-   Share-  Perfor-
  ment  Long- Termin- based  mance
 Short-term employee benefi ts benefi ts Term ation Payment Total Related

    Non-   Long    
  Salary Cash monetary  Super- Service Annual   
  & fees bonus ^ benefi ts Other annuation Leave Leave Options  
30 June 2006  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Non-executive
directors

J Schmoll  71,384 – – – 6,425 – – – 77,809 –

S Klein (a) 54,500 – – – – – – – 54,500 –

S Fisher  54,256 – – – 4,883 – – – 59,139 –

J McConnell  60,000 – – – 5,400 – – – 65,400 –

Executive
directors

J Hersch  564,068 161,087 41,205 – 50,766 9,359 – 65,763 892,248 25.4

B Wavish  (b) 142,817 – – – 7,453 – – – 150,270 –

M Kirkby (c) 411,112 – 19,889 – 61,667 6,780 – 6,440 505,888 1.3

Other key
management
personnel

V Cheung  441,474 82,175 14,916 544 34,818 – – 314 574,241 14.4

M Delauney  231,659 10,000 24,689 – 20,849 – 29,280 – 316,477 3.2

A Gelemanovic  (d) 126,714 10,000 12,394 – 11,404 2,456 – 3,221 166,189 8.0

L Jackson  87,706 10,000 23,044 – 7,893 2,855 – 3,430 134,928 14.3

J Kelso  (e) 305,314 – 4,562 500,000 27,223 6,851 – – 843,950 –

B Liu  270,658 60,959 8,733 21,088 10,826 – – 3,221 375,485 17.1

M Melis  233,027 25,000 20,753 – 20,972 3,928 – 10,745 314,425 11.4

P Milburn (f) 125,520 – 13,767 – 11,297 2,327 – 314 153,225 0.2

Total  3,180,209 359,221 183,952 521,632 281,876 34,556 29,280 93,448 4,684,174

Note
Other long-term employee benefi ts – There were no other long-term employee benefi ts (including LTI plans) paid to key management personnel during the year ended 
30 June 2006.

(a) S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a fi rm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. The amounts shown above are net of GST.
(b) B Wavish was executive chairman from 1 July 2005 until 24 November 2005, where he resumed his non-executive chairman role from 24 November 2005 until his 

resignation on 12 April 2006.
(c) M Kirkby was executive director from 1 July 2005 until his resignation as a director on 24 November 2005, where he assumed a general manager role in charge of 

corporate fi nance and international business.
(d) A. Gelemanovic was not a specifi ed individual under the superseded AASB 1046 Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities, but falls within 

the defi nition of key management personnel under AASB 124 Related party Disclosures, which applies to the current annual reporting period and prior period 
comparatives.

(e) Mr Kelso received a sign-on bonus of $500,000 when he commenced employment. If Mr Kelso terminates his employment during the fi rst two years from 
commencement, this sign on bonus is refundable to the group on a pro-rata basis.

(f) P. Milburn did not meet the defi nition of key management personnel, under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures for the 2005 year but falls within the defi nition 
of key management personnel for 2006.

^ Short term incentives, which were all paid in cash, were awarded to the executives in accordance with the compensation policy concerning such incentives 
as outlined on page 20 and in all cases 100% of the bonus or grant was paid or payable in relation to the relevant year, with none forfeited or carried forward.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Table 2: Compensation of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 June 2005 (Consolidated) (Audited)
  Post-     Total
  employ-   Share-  Perfor-
  ment  Long- Termin- based  mance
 Short-term employee benefi ts benefi ts Term ation Payment Total Related

    Non-   Long    
  Salary Cash monetary  Super- Service Annual   
  & fees bonus ^ benefi ts Other annuation Leave Leave Options  
30 June 2005  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Non-executive
directors

J Schmoll  30,705 – – – 2,763 – – – 33,468 –

S Klein  (a) 49,050 – – – – – – – 49,050 –

S Fisher  27,634 – – – 2,487 – – – 30,121 –

J McConnell  50,000 – – – 4,500 – – – 54,500 –

F Jones  33,333 – – – – – – – 33,333 –

P Morgan  20,833 – – – – – – – 20,833 –

Executive
directors

J Hersch  521,447 – 37,486 – 48,697 9,359 – 26,247 643,236 4.1

B Wavish  49,128 – – – 4,422 – – – 53,550 –

M Kirkby  411,112 – 19,507 – 61,667 6,780 – 1,884 500,950 0.4

Other key
management
personnel

V Cheung  384,550 73,906 18,635 3,745 31,908 – – 4,129 516,873 15.1

M Delauney  206,541 37,500 21,415 – 21,012 4,178 – 4,129 294,775 14.1

A Gelemanovic  (b) 25,797 – – – 2,322 525 – – 28,644 –

R Hoare  (c) 196,329 29,000 25,621 – 20,677 3,959 – 2,753 278,339 11.4

L Jackson  134,119 – 16,844 – 12,072 2,855 – 2,753 168,643 1.6

B Liu  248,011 – 10,331 18,694 9,920 – – – 286,956 –

M Melis  193,681 10,000 26,978 – 17,431 3,928 – 16,907 268,925 10.0

Total  2,582,270 150,406 176,817 22,439 239,878 31,584 – 58,802 3,262,196

Note
Other long-term employee benefi ts – There were no other long-term employee benefi ts (including LTI plans) paid to key management personnel during the year ended 
30 June 2005.

(a) S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a fi rm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. The amounts shown above are net of GST.
(b) A. Gelemanovic was not a specifi ed individual under the superseded AASB 1046 Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities, but falls within 

the defi nition of key management personnel under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, which applies to the current annual reporting period and prior period 
comparatives.

(c) R. Hoare does not meet the defi nition of key management personnel, under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures for the 2006 year but was defi ned as key 
management personnel for 2005.

^ Short term incentives, which were all paid in cash, were awarded to the executives in accordance with the compensation policy concerning such incentives 
as outlined on page 20 and in all cases 100% of the bonus or grant was paid in relation to the relevant year, with none forfeited or carried forward.
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Table 3: Compensation options: Granted and vested during the year (Consolidated) (Audited)

During the year options over ordinary shares were granted by Housewares International Limited as equity compensation benefi ts 
under the LTI plan to certain key management personnel as disclosed below. No options have been granted to the non-executive 
members of the board under this scheme. The options were issued free of charge. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for 
one fully paid ordinary share in the company at an exercise price equal to the market price of the shares on the date of issue plus a 
premium of 11%. The options vest if and when the group’s earnings per share increases by at least 10% per annum, compounded 
annually. If this increase is not met within three years from the date of grant, the options are forfeited. The contractual life of each 
option granted is four years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. For further details relating to the options, refer to Note 30 
of the fi nancial report.

 Vested Granted Terms and Conditions for each Grant

     Fair Value    
     per option Exercise   
     at grant price per  First Last
    Grant date ($) option ($) Expiry Exercise Exercise
30 June 2006  No. No. Date (Note 30) (Note 30) Date Date Date

Directors

J Hersch  – 1,000,000 15 Dec 2005 0.17 1.66 15 Dec 2009 15 Dec 2006 15 Dec 2009

M Kirkby  – 200,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

Executives

V Cheung  30,000 –

M Delauney  30,000 60,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

A Gelemanovic  – 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

L Jackson  20,000 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

B Liu  – 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

M Melis  – 60,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010

P Milburn  30,000 –

Total  110,000 1,620,000

 Vested Granted Terms and Conditions for each Grant

     Fair Value    
     per option Exercise   
     at grant price per  First Last
    Grant date ($) option ($) Expiry Exercise Exercise
30 June 2005  No. No. Date (Note 30) (Note 30) Date Date Date

Directors

J Hersch  250,000 – – – – – – –

M Kirkby  166,666 – – – – – – –

Executives

V Cheung  30,000 – – – – – – –

M Delauney  30,000 – – – – – – –

A Gelemanovic  – – – – – – – –

R Hoare  20,000 – – – – – – –

L Jackson  20,000 – – – – – – –

B Liu  – – – – – – – –

M Melis  30,000 – – – – – – –

Total  546,666 –

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Meetings
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) 
held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each director was 
as follows:

 Full Board Audit & Risk Remuneration

Number of Meetings  11 6 8

J Schmoll  9(c) 6 5

S Fisher  11 6(c) 8

J McConnell  11 6 8(c)

S Klein  11 6 8

J Hersch  11 – –

W Wavish  7^ 3^ 3^

M Kirkby  6+ – –

Notes
(c) Designates the current chairman of the board or committee.
– Designates that the director was not a member of the applicable committee during the year.
^ W Wavish attended 7 out of 8 board meetings, 3 out of 4 audit & risk committee meetings and 3 out of 7 

remuneration committee meetings held prior to his resignation on 12 April 2006.
+ M Kirkby attended 6 out of 6 board meetings held prior to his resignation on 24 November 2005.

Share Options

Unissued shares
As at the date of this report, there 
were 4,806,666 unissued ordinary 
shares under options (4,806,666 at the 
reporting date). Refer to Note 30 of the 
fi nancial report for further details of the 
options outstanding. Option holders 
do not have any right, by virtue of the 
option, to participate in any share issue 
of the company.

Shares issued as a result of the 
exercise of options
During the year, employees and 
executives have exercised options 
to acquire 40,000 fully paid ordinary 
shares in Housewares International 
Limited at a weighted average exercise 
price of $1.85. Since the end of the year, 
no further options have been exercised.

Auditor’s Declaration of 
Independence
Attached is a copy of the auditor’s 
declaration provided under section 
307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit for the year ended 
30 June 2006. This auditor’s declaration 
forms part of this directors’ report.

Committee Membership
As at the date of this report, the 
company had an audit & risk committee 
and a remuneration committee of the 
board of directors. The details of the 
functions and memberships of the 
committees of the board are presented 
in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Indemnifi cation and Salary 
Continuance Insurance of 
Directors and Offi cers
The directors and offi cers of the 
Company are indemnifi ed by the 
Company against losses or liabilities 
which that they may sustain or incur as 
an offi cer of the Company, in the proper 
performance of their duties.

Salary continuance insurance 
arrangements previously established 
were continued during 2006. The 
insurance premium relevant to each 
employee has been allocated in the 
emoluments disclosure.

Likely Developments and 
Expected Results
Disclosure of information as to likely 
developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and expected results 
of those operations would be prejudicial 
to the interests of the consolidated 
entity. Accordingly, such information has 
not been included in this report.

Environmental Regulations and 
Performance
The consolidated entity is not involved 
in any activities that have a marked 
infl uence on the environment within its 
area of operation.

Corporate Governance
In recognising the need for the highest 
standards of corporate behaviour 
and accountability, the directors of 
Housewares International Limited 
support the principles of good corporate 
governance. The company’s corporate 
governance statement is contained in 
the annual report.
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Non-audit Services
The following non-audit services were 
provided by the company’s auditor, 
Ernst & Young Australia. The directors 
are satisfi ed that the provision of non-
audit services is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act. The nature and scope of each type 
of non-audit service provided means 
that auditor independence was not 
compromised.

Ernst & Young Australia received or is 
due to receive the following amounts for 
the provision of non-audit services:

Tax compliance services  $89,000

AIFRS assurance procedures  $91,750

Audit related services  $18,000

Affi liates of Ernst & Young Australia 
received or are due to receive the 
following amounts for the provision of 
non-audit services:

Tax services  $17,000

Signifi cant Events after 
Year End
Subsequent to 30 June 2006, the 
directors have declared a fully-franked 
fi nal dividend of 3.5 cents per share 
(2005: 3.5 cents per share). 
In accordance with the group’s 
accounting policy no liability is 
recognised at 30 June 2006.

No other matters or circumstances have 
arisen since the end of the year, which 
signifi cantly affected or may affect the 
operations of the consolidated entity.

Signed in accordance with a resolution 
of directors.

Joseph Hersch
Managing Director

Sydney
28 August 2006

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance Statement

Preamble
The board of directors (“board”) of 
Housewares International Limited 
(“HWI”) is responsible for the corporate 
governance of the consolidated entity. 
There is no single model of good 
corporate governance and therefore 
what constitutes good corporate 
governance for HWI will evolve with its 
changing circumstances and will be 
tailored to meet those circumstances.

The format of the corporate governance 
statement refl ects the Australian 
Stock Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate 
Governance Council’s (“council”) 
“Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations”. The council’s 
principles are as follows:

Principle 1. Lay solid foundations 
for management and oversight

Principle 2. Structure the board to 
add value

Principle 3. Promote ethical and 
responsible decision-making

Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in 
fi nancial reporting

Principle 5. Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Principle 6. Respect the rights 
of shareholders

Principle 7. Recognise and 
manage risk

Principle 8. Encourage enhanced 
performance

Principle 9. Remunerate fairly 
and responsibly

Principle 10. Recognise the legitimate 
interests of stakeholders

The council explains that the best 
practice recommendations are not 
prescriptive, but provide a framework 
to help companies provide meaningful 
and comparable disclosure about 
their governance practices. It also 
explains that these best practice 
recommendations are aspirational 
statements, which may not represent 
best practice in all situations.

The company’s corporate governance 
practices throughout the year ended 
30 June 2006 were compliant 
with the council’s best practice 
recommendations, except for those 
differences disclosed and explained in 
this statement.

The following documents are 
available on the corporate governance 
section of the company’s website,
www.housewares.com.au:
● selection and appointment of directors
● criteria for assessing independence
● code of conduct
● continuous disclosure policy
● share trading policy
● shareholder communications policy
● board charter
● audit and risk committee charter
● remuneration committee charter

Role of the Board and 
Management
The board guides and monitors the 
business and affairs of HWI on behalf of 
the shareholders, by whom it is elected, 
and to whom it is accountable. The 
board has adopted formal guidelines 
for board operation and membership. 
These guidelines outline the roles and 
responsibilities of the board and its 
members, and establish the relationship 
between the board and management.

The board is responsible for approving 
the strategic direction of the company, 
establishing goals for management and 
monitoring the achievement of those 
goals, and establishing a sound system 
of risk oversight and management. 
The board will regularly review its 
performance and the performance 
of its committees.

Board Structure

Board composition
The company’s constitution states 
that there must be a minimum of 
three directors and contains detailed 
provisions concerning the tenure of 
directors. The board currently comprises 
four non-executive directors and one 
executive director.

The directors’ report, on page 16, 
outlines the relevant skills, experience, 
and expertise held by each director in 
offi ce at the date of the annual report.

  Term in Non-   Seeking Election or
Director Appointed Offi ce Executive Independent Last Elected Re-election in 2006

John Schmoll (chairman) 2004 2 years Yes Yes 2005 No

Joseph Hersch 2001 5 years No No 2004 No

Steven Fisher 2004 2 years Yes No 2005 No

Steven Klein 2003 3 years Yes No 2003 Yes

John McConnell 1999 7 years Yes Yes 2003 Yes
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Board Structure continued

Director independence
In considering whether a director is 
independent, the board refers to the 
company’s “Criteria for assessing 
independence of directors”, which 
are consistent with the council’s best 
practice recommendations. Independent 
directors of HWI are those that are not 
involved in the day-to-day management 
of the company and are free from any 
real or reasonably perceived business 
or other relationship that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their 
unfettered and independent judgement.

In accordance with the defi nition of 
independence above, and the materiality 
thresholds outlined in the company’s 
‘Criteria for assessing independence 
for directors’ policy, it is the board’s 
view that Mr John McConnell and 
Mr John Schmoll are independent 
directors. The following directors are 
not independent directors:
● Mr Steven Klein (non-executive 

director) is a partner of Arnold Bloch 
Leibler, which is a professional adviser 
to the company;

● Mr Steven Fisher (non-executive 
director) is employed by an entity 
associated with a substantial 
shareholder of HWI;

● Mr Joseph Hersch 
(managing director).

Regardless of whether directors are 
defi ned as independent, all directors are 
expected to bring independent views 
and judgment to board deliberations.

Majority independence
Of the fi ve directors, three are 
considered not to be independent 
for the reasons noted above.

As such, the majority of the board is 
not considered to be independent as 
at the date of this report.

Notwithstanding this, the board 
supports the comments made by 
the ASX Implementation Review 
Group (“IRG”) that: “Other board 
structures which do not include a 
majority of independent directors may 
also provide an acceptable level of 
objectivity. The IRG does not believe 
that an individual director will necessarily 
be unwilling or unable to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests or will necessarily 
lack objectivity or independence 
of mind, simply because they are 
not deemed to be ‘independent’. 
Safeguarding shareholder interests 
is a fundamental duty of all directors.”

Independent chairman
Mr John Schmoll was appointed 
on 12 April 2006, as non-executive 
chairman. Mr Schmoll is considered 
to be an independent chairman.

Mr William Wavish was the chairman 
until his resignation on 12 April 2006. 
Mr Wavish was not considered to be 
independent by virtue of the fact that 
he assumed an executive role in the 
business for a period of time.

Material personal interest 
requirement
The Corporations Act provides that 
unless agreed by the board, where 
any director has a material personal 
interest in a matter, the director will 
not be permitted to be present during 
discussions, or to vote on the matter.

Access to independent advice
There are procedures in place to enable 
directors, in connection with their duties 
and responsibilities as directors, to seek 
independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company.

Nomination committee
During the year ended 30 June 2006, 
the company did not have a separately 
established nomination committee. 
All duties and responsibilities typically 
delegated to such a committee are 
the responsibility of the full board. 
Although the council’s best practice 
recommendation 2.4 recommends 
that a nomination committee can be 
a more effi cient mechanism for the 
detailed examination of selection and 
appointment practices, particularly in 
larger companies, the board does not 
believe at this time that any marked 
effi ciencies or enhancements would be 
achieved by the creation of a separate 
nomination committee.

Code of Conduct
The board has formally adopted a code 
of conduct (“code”) for all employees 
(including directors). The code aims 
at maintaining the highest ethical 
standards, corporate behaviour, and 
accountability across the group.

These obligations are also consistent 
with the duties imposed on directors 
by the Corporations Act. In addition, 
directors are obliged to be independent 
in judgment and to ensure that all 
reasonable steps are taken to be 
satisfi ed as to the soundness of 
board decisions.

Audit and Risk Committee
The board has an audit and risk 
committee (A&RC), which operates 
under a charter approved by the 
board. It is the board’s responsibility to 
ensure that an effective internal control 
framework exists within the consolidated 
entity. This includes internal controls 

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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to deal with both the effectiveness 
and effi ciency of signifi cant business 
processes, the safeguarding of assets, 
the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, and the reliability of fi nancial 
information. The board has delegated 
the responsibility for the establishment 
and maintenance of a framework of 
internal control and ethical standards 
of HWI to the A&RC.

Among its responsibilities, the A&RC:
● reviews all published accounts of 

the group;
● recommends to the board the 

appointment and remuneration of 
the external auditors;

● reviews the scope of external audits;
● assesses the performance and 

independence of the external auditors, 
including procedures governing 
partner rotation;

● reviews corporate governance 
practices; and

● monitors and assesses the 
systems for internal compliance 
and control, legal compliance, 
and risk management.

Composition of committee
The current members of the A&RC are:
● Mr Steven Fisher (chairman)
● Mr John Schmoll
● Mr John McConnell

The directors’ report, on page 25, 
outlines the number of A&RC meetings 
held during the year and the names 
of the attendees at those meetings. 
It also outlines the qualifi cations of 
A&RC members on page 16.

The executive and non-executive 
directors; company secretaries; chief 
fi nancial offi cer; the external auditors; 
and any other persons considered 
appropriate attend meetings of the 
A&RC by invitation. The committee also 
meets from time to time with the external 
auditors independent of management.

In accordance with the council’s best 
practice recommendation 4.3, the A&RC 
comprises:
● only non-executive directors;
● a majority of independent directors; 

and
● at least three members.

Although the chairman of the A&RC is 
not an independent director, the board 
considers that Mr Fisher is currently the 
most suitable director to be chairman of 
the A&RC given that it is not appropriate 
for Mr Schmoll to be both chairman 
of the board and of the A&RC, nor is 
it appropriate for Mr McConnell to be 
both chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and of the A&RC.

The board currently intends to appoint 
an additional non-executive independent 
director, once a suitable candidate can 
be identifi ed, and it is possible that this 
person will then be appointed chairman 
of the A&RC instead of Mr Fisher. 
The board is satisfi ed that Mr Fisher 
exercises his duties as chairman 
impartially and properly.

Risk Identifi cation and 
Management
The company is committed to 
the identifi cation, monitoring, and 
management of risks associated with its 
business activities, and has embedded 
in its management and reporting 
systems a number of risk management 
controls. These include:
● guidelines and limits for approval 

of capital expenditure;

● policies and procedures for the 
management of fi nancial risk and 
treasury operations, including 
exposures to foreign currencies and 
movements in interest rates; and

● annual budgeting and monthly 
reporting systems for all businesses, 
which enable the monitoring of 
progress against performance targets 
and the evaluation of trends.

Management is ultimately responsible 
to the board for the system of internal 
control and risk management. 
The A&RC assists the board in 
monitoring this function.

Performance
The performance of key executives 
is reviewed regularly against both 
measurable and qualitative indicators. 
This involves an assessment of the 
performance of each board member 
and key executives against specifi c and 
measurable qualitative and quantitative 
performance criteria, and includes:
● fi nancial measures of the company’s 

performance;
● development and achievement 

of strategic objectives;
● development of management 

and staff;
● compliance with legislative and 

company policy requirements; and
● achievement of key performance 

indicators.

Whilst no formal process of review 
of the non-executive directors was 
conducted in the reporting period 
due to the changes in the composition 
of the board, it has been placed on 
the agenda of the board for the next 
reporting period. In the interim the 
chairman informally assesses the 
performance of individual directors 
and their contribution to board affairs.
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Remuneration

Remuneration committee
The board has a remuneration 
committee, comprising the 
following directors:
● Mr John McConnell (chairman)
● Mr Steven Fisher
● Mr Steven Klein
● Mr John Schmoll

In accordance with the council’s best 
practice recommendation 9.2, the 
remuneration committee comprises:
● an independent chairman; and
● at least three members.

Of the four committee members, 
Mr Steven Fisher and Mr Steven Klein 
are considered not to be independent 
for the reasons noted above.

As such, the majority of the 
remuneration committee is not 
considered to be independent 
as at the date of this report.

The Board has elected to maintain the 
committee with two independent and 
two non-independent non-executive 
directors as the breadth of experience 
provided by each director is highly 
valued. The board is confi dent that 
Mr Fisher and Mr Klein are able to 
exercise their duties as committee 
members impartially and properly.

For details on the number of meetings 
of the remuneration committee held 
during the year and the attendees at 
those meetings, refer to the directors’ 
report on page 25.

Remuneration policy
Details of the company’s remuneration 
policy are contained in the remuneration 
report contained in the directors’ report 
on pages 19 to 24.

Remuneration disclosure
For details of the amount of 
remuneration and all monetary and 
non-monetary components for each 
of the fi ve highest paid (non-director) 
executives during the year, and for all 
directors, refer to the remuneration 
report contained in the directors’ report 
on pages 22 to 24.

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 2(a) 424,186 408,366 15,745 15,365

Cost of sales 2(b) (314,849) (295,082) – –

Gross profi t  109,337 113,284 15,745 15,365

Other income 2(c) 4,932 1,266 94 123

Share of the profi ts/(losses) of jointly controlled entities
accounted for using equity method 11(c) 1,113 (415) – –

Employee benefi ts costs 2(f) (52,558) (48,839) (114) (53)

Premises, lease & utilities expenses 2(e) (14,087) (14,396) – –

Advertising expense  (9,044) (8,460) – –

Depreciation & amortisation expense 2(d) (3,400) (3,580) – –

Other expenses 2(e) (7,610) (6,259) – –

Underlying profi t before tax, fi nance costs
and signifi cant items  28,683 32,601 15,725 15,435

Finance costs 2(g) (6,915) (6,166) – –

Restructuring costs related to the Homewares and
SABCO business (including inventory clearance program)  (2,550) (6,431) – –

Discontinued supplier contract  (325) – – –

Onerous lease arising on Rydalmere warehouse closure  – (1,662) – –

Profi t before income tax expense  18,893 18,342 15,725 15,435

Income tax expense 3 (5,533) (3,720) (28) (37)

Profi t for the year attributable to members of
Housewares International Limited  13,360 14,622 15,697 15,398

Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity
holders of the parent entity (cents per share):

— basic 4 10.99 12.33

— diluted 4 10.74 12.09

Franked dividends per share (cents per share) 5(a) 13.00 13.00

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Income Statement.

Income Statement

for the year ended 30 June 2006



32 Housewares International

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June 
  2006 2005 2006 2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 13,897 4,944 2 –

Trade and other receivables 7 68,452 63,071 55,091 51,470

Inventories 8 86,468 106,122 – –

Other fi nancial assets 9 1,442 – – –

Current tax assets 3 4,221 3,370 3,942 1,834

Other assets 10 3,693 3,553 – –

Total current assets  178,173 181,060 59,035 53,304

Non-current assets

Investments in jointly controlled entities 11 8,760 6,652 – –

Other fi nancial assets 12 – – 69,429 69,429

Plant and equipment 13 10,534 10,704 – –

Deferred tax assets 3 8,579 7,886 – –

Intangible assets – other 14 50,061 47,089 – –

Intangible assets – goodwill 15 32,799 29,465 – –

Total non-current assets  110,733 101,796 69,429 69,429

Total assets  288,906 282,856 128,464 122,733

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 41,840 39,167 – –

Borrowings 18 11,062 9,214 – –

Current tax liabilities 3 1,731 3,100 – –

Provisions 19 3,639 4,001 – –

Other fi nancial liabilities 20 1,250 – – –

Total current liabilities  59,522 55,482 – –

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 392 – – –

Borrowings 18 66,652 69,871 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 3 3,659 2,290 – –

Provisions 19 936 951 – –

Total non-current liabilities  71,639 73,112 – –

Total liabilities  131,161 128,594 – –

Net assets  157,745 154,262 128,464 122,733

Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 21 128,237 122,572 128,237 122,572

Reserves 22 (1,681) (1,650) 320 206

Retained earnings 23 31,189 33,340 (93) (45)

Total equity  157,745 154,262 128,464 122,733

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Balance Sheet.

Balance Sheet

As at 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June 
  2006 2005 2006 2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the year  154,262 150,792 122,733 116,631

Adjustment to opening retained profi ts
in relation to change in accounting policy 1(i)(ii) 234 – – –

Restated total equity at the beginning of the year  154,496 150,792 122,733 116,631

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  565 (2,652) – –

Cash fl ow hedges:

– Losses taken to equity  (1,665) – – –

– Transferred to income statement for the year 2(c)(ii) 219 – – –

– Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items  660 – – –

Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred
directly from equity 3 76 796 – –

Net expense recognised directly in equity  (145) (1,856) – –

Profi t for the year  13,360 14,622 15,697 15,398

Total recognised income for the year  13,215 12,766 15,697 15,398

Equity dividends 5(a) (15,745) (15,365) (15,745) (15,365)

Issue of share capital through dividend reinvestment plan 5(a) 5,134 4,645 5,134 4,645

Issue of share capital through exercise of options  74 997 74 997

Movement in non-recourse
senior executive option plan loans  457 374 457 374

Cost of share-based payments  114 53 114 53

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity
as equity holders:  3,249 3,470 5,731 6,102

Total equity at the end of the year  157,745 154,262 128,464 122,733

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Changes in Equity.

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June 
  2006 2005 2006 2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  449,416 448,341 – –

Payments to suppliers and employees  (405,516) (430,652) – –

Dividends received  – – 15,745 15,365

Finance costs paid  (7,245) (6,319) – –

Income tax paid  (6,625) (7,386) (37) (33)

Finance income received  400 368 94 123

Net cash fl ows from operating activities 6(b) 30,430 4,352 15,802 15,455

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment  (2,898) (4,732) – –

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  161 309 – –

Purchase of intangible assets  (3,936) (1,153) – –

Purchase of business 27 (3,272) – – –

Deferred settlement payment for purchase of business  – (465) – –

Distribution from jointly controlled entities  – 151 – –

Net cash fl ows used in investing activities  (9,945) (5,890) – –

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  110,666 129,118 – –

Repayment of borrowings  (110,972) (120,035) – –

Repayment of borrowings from controlled entities  – – (5,189) (4,735)

Proceeds from issues of shares  532 1,372 – –

Equity dividends paid 5(a) (10,611) (10,720) (10,611) (10,720)

Net cash fl ows used in fi nancing activities  (10,385) (265) (15,800) (15,455)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  10,100 (1,803) 2 –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  3,984 6,634 – –

Net foreign exchange difference  (368) (847) – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6(a) 13,716 3,984 2 –

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Cash Flow Statement.

Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 June 2006
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Note 1. Summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies

Housewares International Limited is a 
company limited by shares incorporated 
in Australia. Housewares International 
Limited shares are quoted on the 
Australian Stock Exchange.

This annual report covers both 
Housewares International Limited (Parent 
or company) as an individual entity 
and the consolidated entity (Group) 
comprising Housewares International 
Limited and its subsidiaries.

A description of the Group’s operations 
and of its principal activities is included 
in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on pages 17 to 
18. The directors’ report is not part of 
the fi nancial report.

(a) Basis of preparation
The fi nancial report is a general-
purpose fi nancial report, which has 
been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting 
Standards.

The fi nancial report has also been 
prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative fi nancial 
instruments, which have been measured 
at fair value.

The fi nancial report is presented in 
Australian dollars and all amounts have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollar ($’000) unless otherwise stated 
under the option available to the 
Company under ASIC Class Order 
98/0100. The Company is an entity 
to which the class order applies.

(b) Statements of compliance
The fi nancial report complies with 
Australian Accounting Standards, 
which include Australian equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with 
AIFRS ensures that the fi nancial report, 
comprising the fi nancial statements and 
notes thereto, complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

This is the fi rst fi nancial report prepared 
based on AIFRS and comparatives for 
the year ended 30 June 2005 have 
been restated accordingly except for 
the adoption of AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The 
Company has adopted the exemption 
under AASB 1 First-time Adoption of 
Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards from 
having to apply AASB 132 and AASB 
139 to the comparative period. 
Reconciliations of AIFRS equity and 
profi t for 30 June 2005 to the balances 
reported in the 30 June 2005 fi nancial 
report and at transition to AIFRS are 
detailed in Note 35.

Except for the revised AASB 119 
Employee Benefi ts (issued December 
2005), Australian Accounting Standards 
and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) 
Interpretations that have recently been 
issued or amended but are not yet 
effective have not been adopted for 
the annual reporting period ending 
30 June 2006:

● Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards;
> AASB 2004-3 (AASB 1, AASB 101, 

& AASB 101),
> AASB 2005-1 (AASB 139),
> AASB 2005-5 (AASB 1 & 

AASB 139),
> AASB 2005-6 (AASB 3),
> AASB 2006-1 (AASB 121); and

● UIG 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease

The application date of these standards 
and interpretations is 1 January 2006, 
and will be applicable to the Group from 
1 July 2006. No changes to accounting 
policy are required and no signifi cant 
impending impacts are expected.

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures and AASB 2005-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standard (AASB 132, AASB 101, 

AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, 
AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, 
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038).

The application date of these standards 
is 1 January 2007, and will be applicable 
to the Group from 1 July 2007. It is 
expected that this will not affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the 
fi nancial statements and no changes 
in accounting policy will be required, 
but will impact the type of information 
disclosed in relation to the Group’s 
fi nancial instruments.

The following Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards are not applicable 
to the Group and therefore have 
no impact:

● AASB 2005-4 (AASB 139, AASB 132, 
AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038)

● AASB 2005-9 (AASB 4, AASB 1023, 
AASB 139 & AASB 132)

The following UIG Interpretations are not 
applicable to the Group and therefore 
have no impact:
● UIG 5 Rights to Interests in 

Decommissioning, Restoration and 
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

● UIG 6 Liabilities Arising from 
Participating in a Specifi c Market 
– Waste Electrical and Electronic 
Equipment

● UIG 7 Applying the Restatement 
Approach under AASB 129 Financial 
Reporting in Hyperinfl ationary 
Economies

● UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2
● UIG 9 Reassessment of Embedded 

Derivatives

(c) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements 
comprise the fi nancial statements of 
Housewares International Limited and its 
subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.

The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting 
period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies.

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2006
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

for the Year ended 30 June 2006

In preparing the consolidated fi nancial 
statements, all intercompany balances 
and transactions, income and expenses 
and profi t and loss resulting from intra-
group transactions have been eliminated 
in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to 
the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is 
transferred out of the Group.

The acquisition of certain assets 
and liabilities of Britette Australia Pty 
Limited has been accounted for using 
the purchase method of accounting. 
The purchase method of accounting 
involves allocating the cost of the 
business combination to the fair value 
of assets acquired and the liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed at 
the date of acquisition. Accordingly, 
the consolidated fi nancial statements 
include the results of this business 
for the seven month period from its 
acquisition on 1 December 2005.

(d) Signifi cant accounting 
judgements, estimates and 
assumptions
Signifi cant accounting estimates 
and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities are often determined 
based on estimates and assumptions 
of future events. The key estimates and 
assumptions that have a signifi cant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period are:

Impairment of goodwill and 
intangibles with indefi nite useful lives
The Group determines whether goodwill 
and intangibles with indefi nite useful 
lives are impaired at least on an annual 
basis. This requires an estimation of 

the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill 
and intangibles with indefi nite useful lives 
are allocated. The assumptions used in 
this estimation of recoverable amount 
and the carrying amount of goodwill and 
intangibles with indefi nite useful lives are 
discussed in Note 16.

Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-
settled transactions with employees by 
reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they 
are granted. The fair value is determined 
by either internally or by an external 
valuer using either the Black-Scholes or 
binomial option pricing model, using the 
assumptions detailed in Note 30.

(e) Functional and 
presentation currency
Both the functional and presentation 
currency of Housewares International 
Limited and its Australian subsidiaries 
are Australian dollars (AUD or A$). 
Each entity in the Group determines 
its own functional currency and items 
included in the fi nancial statements of 
each entity are measured using that 
functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies 
are initially recorded in the functional 
currency at the exchange rates ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date.

All exchange differences in the 
consolidated fi nancial report are taken 
to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of the 
initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined.

The functional currency of the foreign 
subsidiaries is either:
● USD – United States dollars (Thebe 

International, Inc., Metro/Thebe, Inc., 
and HWI China Holdings Limited);

● HKD – Hong Kong dollars (HWI 
International Ltd, Gannet Holdings 
Limited, and Breville Export Limited);

● CAD – Canadian dollars (HWI Canada, 
Inc. and Holdings HWI Canada, Inc.); 
and

● NZD – New Zealand dollars 
(Breville NZ Limited).

As at the reporting date the assets and 
liabilities of these foreign subsidiaries 
are translated into the presentation 
currency of Housewares International 
Limited. They are translated at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date and the income statements 
are translated at the weighted average 
exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on 
the retranslation are taken directly to a 
separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the 
deferred cumulative amount recognised 
in equity relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in the income 
statement.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the 
balance sheet comprise cash at bank 
and in hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months 
or less.

Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on 
the balance sheet.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow 
Statement, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defi ned above, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued

(c) Basis of consolidation continued
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(g) Trade and other receivables
The Group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB 1 of 
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 
from 1 July 2005. Outlined below are 
the relevant accounting policies for 
trade and other receivables applicable 
for the years ended 30 June 2006 and 
30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for 
the year ended 30 June 2006
Trade receivables, which generally have 
30-60 day terms, are initially recognised 
at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Bad debts are written off when 
incurred. An allowance for uncollectible 
receivables is established when 
there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. The amount of 
the allowance is recognised in the 
income statement.

Accounting policies applicable for 
the year ended 30 June 2005
Trade receivables were recognised 
and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible 
receivables. An estimate for uncollectible 
receivables was made when collection 
of the full amount was no longer 
probable. Bad debts were written off 
when identifi ed.

(h) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.

The cost of inventories shall comprise all 
costs of purchase, costs of conversion 
and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and 
condition. This includes the transfer from 
equity of gains and losses on qualifying 
cash fl ow hedges of purchases of 
fi nished goods.

Costs are assigned to individual items 
of inventory on a weighted average 
cost basis.

(II) APPLICATION OF AASB 132 AND AASB 139 PROSPECTIVELY FROM 1 JULY 2005

 Consolidated

  30 June Effect of 1 July
  2005  adoption  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables

– Hedging foreign currency receivable  1,417 (1,417) –

–  Hedging foreign currency put
option receivable  225 (225) –

Derivatives asset  – 572 572

Trade and other payables

– Hedging foreign currency payable  (1,417) 1,417 –

–  Hedging foreign currency put
option payable  (81) 81 –

Derivatives liabilities  – (194) (194)

Impact on net assets   234

Retained earnings  33,340 234 33,574

Impact on equity   234

Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

(i) Derivative fi nancial 
instruments and hedging

Change in accounting policy
(I) RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS AS IF AASB 132 AND AASB 139 
WERE APPLIED AT 1 JULY 2005

In the current year the Group adopted 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. This change in 
accounting policy has been adopted 
in accordance with the transition rules 
contained in AASB 1, which does not 
require the restatement of comparative 
information for fi nancial instruments with 
the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139.

The impact on the balance sheet in the 
comparative period is set out below as 
an adjustment to the opening balance 
sheet at 1 July 2005. The transitional 
provisions will not have any effect in 
future reporting periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

for the Year ended 30 June 2006

Outlined below are the relevant 
accounting policies for derivative 
fi nancial instruments and hedging 
applicable for the years ended 
30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for 
the year ended 30 June 2006
The Group uses derivative fi nancial 
instruments such as forward currency 
contracts and interest rate swaps to 
hedge its risks associated with foreign 
currency and interest rate fl uctuations. 
Such derivative fi nancial instruments 
are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date on which a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value. Derivatives are 
carried as assets when their fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when their fair 
value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of derivatives, 
except for those that qualify for hedge 
accounting, are taken directly to the 
income statement.

The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is calculated by reference 
to current forward exchange rates for 
contracts with similar maturity profi les. 
The fair value of interest rate swap 
contracts is determined by reference 
to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, 
hedges are classifi ed as cash fl ow 
hedges when they hedge exposure 
to variability in cash fl ows that is 
attributable either to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or 
liability or to a forecast transaction.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, 
the Group formally designates and 
documents the hedge relationship to 
which the Group wishes to apply hedge 
accounting and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking 
the hedge. The documentation includes 
identifi cation of the hedging instrument, 

the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged and 
how the entity will assess the hedging 
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting 
the exposure to changes in the hedged 
item’s fair value or cash fl ows attributable 
to the hedged risk. Such hedges 
are expected to be highly effective in 
achieving offsetting changes in fair 
value or cash fl ows and are assessed 
on an ongoing basis to determine that 
they actually have been highly effective 
throughout the fi nancial reporting 
periods for which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for 
hedge accounting are accounted for 
as follows:

(A) CASH FLOW HEDGES

Cash fl ow hedges are hedges of the 
Group’s exposure to variability in cash 
fl ows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset 
or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction and that could affect profi t 
or loss. The effective portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
is recognised directly in equity, while 
the ineffective portion is recognised in 
income statement.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred 
to the income statement when the 
hedged transaction affects profi t or 
loss, such as when hedged income 
or expenses are recognised or when 
a forecast purchase occurs. When 
the hedged item is the cost of a non-
fi nancial asset or liability, the amounts 
taken to equity are transferred to the 
initial carrying amount of the non-
fi nancial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, amounts previously 
recognised in equity are transferred to 
the income statement. If the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised without replacement 
or rollover, or if its designation as a 
hedge is revoked, amounts previously 
recognised in equity remain in equity 
until the forecast transaction occurs. If 
the related transaction is not expected 
to occur, the amount is taken to the 
income statement.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a 
fi rm commitment is accounted for as a 
cash fl ow hedge.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005

(A) FORWARD EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

The Group enters into forward exchange 
contracts whereby it agrees to buy 
specifi ed amounts of foreign currencies 
in the future at a predetermined 
exchange rate. The objective is to 
match the contract with anticipated 
future cash fl ows from purchases in 
foreign currencies to protect the Group 
against the possibility of loss from future 
exchange rate fl uctuations. The forward 
exchange contracts are usually for no 
longer than 12 months.

Forward exchange contracts were 
recognised at the date the contract 
was entered into. Exchange gains or 
losses on forward exchange contracts 
were recognised in net profi t except 
those relating to hedges of specifi c 
commitments, which were deferred 
and included in the measurement of 
the purchase.

(B) INTEREST RATE SWAPS

The Group enters into interest rate swap 
agreements that are used to convert 
the variable interest rate of its short-term 
borrowings to medium-term fi xed interest 
rates. The swaps are entered into with 
the objective of reducing the risk of 
rising interest rates.

It was the company’s policy not to 
recognise interest rate swaps in the 
fi nancial report. Net receipts and 
payments were recognised as an 
adjustment to interest expense.

(C) SPECIFIC HEDGES

When a purchase was specifi cally 
hedged, exchange gains or losses on 
the hedging transaction arising up to the 
date of purchase and costs, premiums 
and discounts relative to the hedging 
transaction were deferred and included 
in the measurement of the purchase 
or sale.

Exchange gains and losses arising on 
the hedge transaction after that date 
were taken to net profi t.

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued

(i) Derivative fi nancial 
instruments and hedging continued
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(j) Impairment of fi nancial assets
Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006
If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred on 
an unquoted equity instrument that is 
not carried at fair value (because its fair 
value cannot be reliably measured), or 
on a derivative asset that is linked to and 
must be settled by delivery of such an 
unquoted equity instrument, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated 
future cash fl ows, discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar 
fi nancial asset.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005
For non-current fi nancial assets, 
refer to Note 1(n) for the impairment 
accounting policy.

(k) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of between 
2 and 5 years.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives 
and amortisation methods are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
year-end.

Impairment
The carrying values of plant and 
equipment are reviewed for impairment 
at each reporting date, with recoverable 
amount being estimated when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may be impaired.

For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash infl ows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs, unless the asset’s value 
in use can be estimated to be close to 
its fair value.

An impairment loss exists when the 
carrying value of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-
generating unit is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of plant and 
equipment is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash fl ows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that refl ects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specifi c to the asset.

Derecognition and disposal
An item of plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when 
no further future economic benefi ts are 
expected from its use or disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset at the 
time of derecognition) is included in the 
income statement in the year in which 
they arise.

(l) Intangible assets – goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is initially measured at cost, 
being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is 
measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business 
combination shall, from the acquisition 
date, be allocated to each of the Group’s 
cash-generating units, or groups of 
cash-generating units, that are expected 
to benefi t from the synergies of the 

combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the Group 
are assigned to those units or groups 
of units. Each unit or group of units to 
which the goodwill is so allocated:
● represents the lowest level within 

the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management 
purposes; and

● is not larger than a segment based 
on either the Group’s primary or 
secondary segment reporting format, 
determined in accordance with AASB 
114 Segment Reporting.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill 
has been allocated shall be tested for 
impairment annually, and whenever 
there is an indication that the unit may 
be impaired.

Impairment is determined by assessing 
the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill 
relates. When the recoverable amount 
of a cash-generating unit is less than 
the carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised. When goodwill forms 
part of a cash-generating unit and an 
operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal 
of the operation. Goodwill disposed 
of in this manner is measured based 
on the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Impairment losses recognised for 
goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

(m) Intangible assets – other
Acquired both separately and 
from a business combination
Intangible assets acquired separately 
or in a business combination are 
initially measured at cost. The cost 
of an intangible asset acquired in a 
business combination is its fair value 
as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated 
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amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised 
and expenditure is charged against 
profi ts in the year in which the 
expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are 
assessed to be either fi nite or indefi nite.

Intangible assets with fi nite lives are 
amortised over the useful life and 
assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a fi nite useful life 
is reviewed at least at each year-end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefi ts embodied in 
the asset are accounted for by changing 
the amortisation period or method, 
as appropriate, which is a change in 
accounting estimate. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with 
fi nite lives is recognised in the income 
statement in the expense category 
consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefi nite useful 
lives are tested for impairment annually 
either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangibles 
are not amortised. The useful life of 
an intangible asset with an indefi nite 
life is reviewed each reporting period 
to determine whether indefi nite 
life assessment continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in the 
useful life assessment from indefi nite 
to fi nite is accounted for as a change 
in an accounting estimate and is thus 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as 
incurred. An intangible asset arising 
from development expenditure on 
an internal project is recognised only 
when the Group can demonstrate the 
technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use or sale, its intention to complete 
and its ability to use or sell the asset, 
how the asset will generate future 
economic benefi ts, the availability of 
resources to complete the development 
and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development.

Brand names

Internally generated or Acquired Acquired

Useful lives Indefi nite

Amortisation method used No amortisation

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when an 
indication of impairment exists

Computer Software

Internally generated or Acquired Acquired

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation method used Amortised over the useful life, not exceeding 
3 years, on a straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when 
an indication of impairment exists. The 
amortisation method is reviewed at each 
year-end.

Development Costs

Internally generated or Acquired Internally generated

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation method used Amortised over the period of expected 
future sales, not exceeding 3 years, from 
the related project on a straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when 
an indication of impairment exists. The 
amortisation method is reviewed at each 
year-end.

Following the initial recognition of the 
development expenditure, the cost 
model is applied requiring the asset to 
be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Any expenditure so 
capitalised is amortised over the period 
of expected benefi ts from the related 
project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset 
arising from development expenditure 
is tested for impairment annually when 
the asset is not yet available for use, 
or more frequently when an indication 
of impairment arises during the 
reporting period.

A summary of the policies applied to the 
Group’s intangible assets is as follows:

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued

(m) Intangible assets –
other continued
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Gains or losses arising from 
derecognition of an intangible asset 
are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognised in the 
income statement when the asset 
is derecognised.

(n) Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is an indication 
that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate 
of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash infl ows that 
are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets and the 
asset’s value in use cannot be estimated 
to be close to its fair value. In such 
cases the asset is tested for impairment 
as part of the cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs.

When the carrying amount of an asset 
or cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset or cash-
generating unit is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable 
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash fl ows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that refl ects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specifi c to the asset. 
Impairment losses are recognised in 
those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is also made at 
each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. A previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised. If 
that is the case the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. Such reversal is recognised 
in the income statement unless the 
asset is carried at a re-valued amount, 
in which case the reversal is treated 
as a revaluation increase. After such 
a reversal the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less 
any residual value, on a systematic basis 
over its remaining useful life.

(o) Interest in jointly controlled 
entities
The Group’s investment in its jointly 
controlled entities is accounted for under 
the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated fi nancial report.

Under the equity method, the investment 
in the jointly controlled entities is carried 
in the consolidated balance sheet at 
cost plus post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the jointly controlled entities. Goodwill 
relating to jointly controlled entities is 
included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is not amortised. 
After application of the equity method, 
the Group determines whether it is 
necessary to recognise any additional 
impairment loss with respect to the 
Group’s net investment in its jointly 
controlled entities. The consolidated 
income statement refl ects the Group’s 
share of the results of operations of the 
jointly controlled entities.

Where there has been a change 
recognised directly in the jointly 
controlled entities’ equity, the Group 
recognised its share of any changes 

and discloses this in the consolidated 
statement of recognised income and 
expense.

The reporting dates of the jointly 
controlled entities and the Group are 
identical and the jointly controlled 
entities’ accounting policies conform 
to those used by the Group for like 
transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

(p) Investments and other 
fi nancial assets
The Group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB 1 of 
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 
from 1 July 2005. Outlined below are 
the relevant accounting policies for 
investments and other fi nancial assets 
applicable for the years ended 30 June 
2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006
Financial assets in the scope of 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement are 
classifi ed as either fi nancial assets at 
fair value through profi t or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments, or available-for-sale 
investments, as appropriate. When 
fi nancial assets are recognised initially, 
they are measured at fair value, plus, 
in the case of investments not at fair 
value through profi t or loss, directly 
attributable transactions costs. The 
Group determines the classifi cation of 
its fi nancial assets after initial recognition 
and, when allowed and appropriate, 
re-evaluates this designation at each 
year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales 
of fi nancial assets are recognised on 
the trade date i.e. the date that the 
Group commits to purchase the asset. 
Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of fi nancial assets 
under contracts that require delivery of 
the assets within the period established 
generally by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace.
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(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets classifi ed as held for 
trading are included in the category 
‘fi nancial assets at fair value through 
profi t or loss’. Financial assets are 
classifi ed as held for trading if they 
are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. Derivatives are also 
classifi ed as held for trading unless 
they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments. Gains or losses 
on investments held for trading are 
recognised in profi t or loss.

(II) HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed 
or determinable payments and fi xed 
maturity are classifi ed as held-to-maturity 
when the Group has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
Investments intended to be held for an 
undefi ned period are not included in 
this classifi cation. Investments that are 
intended to be held-to-maturity, such as 
bonds, are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. This cost is computed 
as the amount initially recognised 
minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initially 
recognised amount and the maturity 
amount. This calculation includes all 
fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all 
other premiums and discounts. For 
investments carried at amortised cost, 
gains and losses are recognised in 
profi t or loss when the investments are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as 
through the amortisation process.

(III) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or 
determinable payments that are not 

(q) Trade and other payables
The group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB 1 of 
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 
from 1 July 2005. Outlined below are 
the relevant accounting policies for trade 
and other payables for the years ended 
30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006.

Accounting policy applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006
Trade and other payables are carried at 
amortised cost and represent liabilities 
for goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the year 
that are unpaid and arise when the 
Group becomes obliged to make future 
payments in respect of the purchase of 
these goods and services.

Accounting policy applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005
Liabilities for trade and other payables 
are carried at cost which is the fair value 
of the consideration to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received, 
whether or not billed to the Group.

(r) Employee leave benefi ts
Wages, salaries, annual leave 
and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, 
including non-monetary benefi ts, annual 
leave and accumulating sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months 
of the reporting date are recognised in 
trade and other payables in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting 
date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised 
when the leave is taken and are 
measured at the rates paid or payable.

quoted in an active market. Such assets 
are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profi t or loss 
when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as 
through the amortisation process.

(IV) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Available-for-sale investments are 
those non-derivative fi nancial assets 
that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classifi ed as any of the 
three preceding categories. After initial 
recognition available-for sale investments 
are measured at fair value with gains or 
losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the investment 
is derecognised or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired, at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is recognised in profi t 
or loss.

The fair value of investments that are 
actively traded in organised fi nancial 
markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close 
of business on the balance sheet date. 
For investments with no active market, 
fair value is determined using valuation 
techniques. Such techniques include 
using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current 
market value of another instrument that 
is substantially the same; discounted 
cash fl ow analysis and option pricing 
models.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005
All investments are initially recognised 
at cost, being the fair value of the 
consideration given and including 
acquisition charges associated with the 
investment.

For investments where there is no 
quoted market price, fair value is 
determined by reference to the current 
market value of another instrument 
which is substantially the same or is 
calculated based on the expected cash 
fl ows of the underlying net asset base of 
the investment.

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued

(p) Investments and other 
fi nancial assets continued



43HWI Annual Report 2006

(s) Share-based payment 
transactions

Equity settled transactions
The Group provides benefi ts to 
employees (including directors) of 
the Group in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render 
services in exchange for shares or rights 
over shares (equity-settled transactions).

There are currently two senior executive 
option plans (SEOP), which provides 
benefi ts to directors and senior 
executives. Refer to Note 30 for details.

The cost of these equity-settled 
transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted. The 
fair value has been determined by an 
external valuer or internal valuation 
modelling using a Black Scholes or 
binomial model.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, 
no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than conditions linked 
to the price of the shares of Housewares 
International Limited (market conditions), 
if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions 
is recognised, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period in which the performance 
and/or service conditions are fulfi lled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the 
award (vesting date).

The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at each 
reporting date until vesting date refl ects 
(i) the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and (ii) the Group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. No 
adjustment is made for the likelihood of 
market performance conditions being 
met as the effect of these conditions is 
included in the determination of fair value 
at grant date. The income statement 
charge or credit for a period represents 

the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end 
of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards 
that do not ultimately vest, except for 
awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award 
are modifi ed, at a minimum an expense 
is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modifi ed. In addition, an expense 
is recognised for any modifi cation that 
increases the total fair value of the 
share-based payment arrangement, or 
is otherwise benefi cial to the employee, 
as measured at the date of modifi cation.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it 
is treated as if it had vested on the date 
of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised 
immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on 
the date that it is granted, the cancelled 
and new award are treated as if they 
were a modifi cation of the original award, 
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding 
options is refl ected as additional share 
dilution in the computation of earnings 
per share.

(t) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the 
Group has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outfl ow 
of resources embodying economic 
benefi ts will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or 
all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as 
a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision 
is presented in the income statement 
net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that refl ects 
the risks specifi c to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a fi nance cost.

Onerous contracts
An onerous contract is considered to 
exist when the Group has contracts 
under which the unavoidable cost of 
meeting the contractual obligations 
exceed the economic benefi ts estimated 
to be received. Present obligations 
arising under onerous contracts are 
recognised as a provision to the extent 
that the present obligation exceeds 
the economic benefi t estimated to be 
received.

Restructuring
Provision for restructurings are 
recognised when the Group has 
developed a detailed formal plan for 
the restructuring and has raised valid 
expectation in those affected that it will 
carry out the restructuring by:
● starting to implement the plan; or
● announcing its main features to those 

affected by it.

Warranties and faulty goods
Provision for warranty and faulty goods 
are recognised at the date of sale of the 
relevant products, at the Group’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the Group’s liability.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is 
recognised as a provision and measured 
as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. Consideration 
is given to the expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using appropriate market 
yields at the reporting date to estimate 
the future cash outfl ows.



44 Housewares International

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

for the Year ended 30 June 2006

(u) Borrowings
The Group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB 1 of 
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 
1 July 2005. Outlined below are the 
relevant accounting policies for interest-
bearing borrowings applicable for the 
years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 
June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006
All borrowings, including bills of 
exchange, are initially recognised at the 
fair value of the consideration received 
less directly attributable transaction 
costs.

After initial recognition, borrowings, 
including bills of exchange, are 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in 
income statement when the liabilities are 
derecognised.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005
Bills payable are recognised when 
issued at the amount of the net 
proceeds received, with the premium 
on issue amortised over the period to 
maturity. Interest is recognised as an 
expense on an effective yield basis.

(v) Derecognition of fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabilities
The Group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB 1 of 
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 
1 July 2005. Outlined below are the 
relevant accounting policies applicable 
to derecognition of fi nancial assets and 
fi nancial liabilities for the years ended 
30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006

(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS

A fi nancial asset (or, where applicable, 
a part of a fi nancial asset or part of 
a group of similar fi nancial assets) is 
derecognised when:
● the rights to receive cash fl ows from 

the asset have expired;
● the Group retains the right to receive 

cash fl ows from the asset, but has 
assumed an obligation to pay them 
in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; or

● the Group has transferred its rights to 
receive cash fl ows from the asset and 
either (a) has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its 
rights to receive cash fl ows from an 
asset and has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is 
recognised to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. 
Continuing involvement that takes the 
form of a guarantee over the transferred 
asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and 
the maximum amount of consideration 
received that the Group could be 
required to repay.

(II) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A fi nancial liability is derecognised 
when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing fi nancial liability is 
replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modifi ed, such an 
exchange or modifi cation is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in profi t or loss.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005

(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS

A fi nancial asset was derecognised 
when the contractual right to receive or 
exchange cash no longer existed.

(II) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A fi nancial liability was derecognised 
when the contractual obligation to deliver 
or exchange cash no longer existed.

(w) Contributed Equity
(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.

(ii) Reserved shares
Reserved shares represent a deduction 
from ordinary shares for options 
exercised through the granting of non-
recourse loans in accordance with the 
senior executive option plan.

(x) Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that the economic benefi ts 
will fl ow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following 
specifi c recognition criteria must also be 
met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the 
signifi cant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to 
the buyer and can be measured reliably. 

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued
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Risks and rewards are considered 
passed to the buyer at the earlier 
of delivery of the goods or the 
transfer of legal title to the customer. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or 
receivable taking into account the 
amount of any trade discounts and 
volume rebates allowed.

Interest
The Group has elected to apply the 
option available under AASB1 of 
adopting AASB132 and AASB139 from 
1 July 2005. Outlined below are the 
relevant accounting policies for interest 
income applicable for the years ended 
30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2006
Revenue is recognised as interest 
accrues using the effective interest 
method. This is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a fi nancial asset 
and allocating the interest income over 
the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of 
the fi nancial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the fi nancial asset.

Accounting policies applicable for the 
year ended 30 June 2005
Interest revenue is recognised when 
the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the 
Group’ right to receive the payment is 
established.

(y) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

(z) Leases
The determination of whether an 
arrangement is or contains a lease 
is based on the substance of 
the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfi lment 
of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of a specifi c asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset.

(i) Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Any lease incentives are 
recognised in the income statement 
as an integral part of the total lease 
expense.

(aa) Income tax
(i) Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the 
current and prior periods are measured 
at the amounts expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided 
on all temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for fi nancial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences except:
● when the deferred income tax liability 

arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profi t nor taxable profi t 
or loss; or

● when the taxable temporary difference 
is associated with investments in 
subsidiaries or interests in jointly 
controlled entities, and the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it 
is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused 
tax assets and unused tax losses, to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profi t will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and 
the carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:
● when the deferred income tax asset 

relating to the deductible temporary 
difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or 
loss; or

● when the deductible temporary 
difference associated with investments 
in subsidiaries or interests in jointly 
controlled entities, in which case a 
deferred tax asset is only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profi t 
will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred 
income tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that 
suffi cient taxable profi t will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.
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Unrecognised deferred income tax 
assets are reassessed at each balance 
sheet date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable profi t will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items 
recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in the 
income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are offset only if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.

(iii) Current and deferred tax 
expense for the period
Current and deferred tax is recognised 
as an expense or income in the income 
statement, except when it related to 
items credited or debited directly to 
equity, in which cash the deferred tax 
is also recognised directly in equity, or 
where it arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, in which 
case it is taken into account in the 
determination of goodwill or excess.

(ab) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST) or value added 
tax (VAT) except:
● where the GST/VAT incurred on the 

purchase of goods and services is 
not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the GST/VAT 
is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item as applicable; and

● receivables and payables, which are 
stated with the applicable amount of 
GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash fl ows are included in the Cash 
Flow Statement on a gross basis and 
the GST/VAT component of cash fl ows 
arising from investing and fi nancing 
activities, which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority are 
classifi ed as operating cash fl ows.

Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT 
recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

(ac) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated 
as net profi t attributable to members 
of the parent, adjusted to exclude any 
costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends), divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares, 
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated 
as net profi t attributable to members of 
the parent, adjusted for:
● cost of servicing equity (other than 

dividends);
● the after tax effect of dividends 

and interest associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares that have 
been recognised as expenses; and

● other non-discretionary changes in 
revenues or expenses during the 
period that would result form the 
dilution of potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares and dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element.

Note 1. Summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies continued

(aa) Income tax continued

(ii) Deferred tax continued
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenue and expenses

(a) Revenue

Sale of goods  424,186 408,366 – –

Dividends – Subsidiaries  – – 15,745 15,365

  424,186 408,366 15,745 15,365

(b) Cost of sales

Costs of inventories recognised as an expense
(includes write-down of inventory to net realisable
value (Note 8))  271,499 254,476 – –

Costs of delivering goods to customers  20,147 20,169 – –

Rebates paid/payable to customers  15,622 12,739 – –

Warranty provision  6,808 7,354 – –

Amortisation – development costs (d),(h) 662 214 – –

Other costs  111 130 – –

  314,849 295,082 – –

(c) Other income

Finance revenue (i) 400 368 94 123

Net foreign exchange gains (ii) 4,160 779 – –

Other income  372 119 – –

  4,932 1,266 94 123

(i) Breakdown of fi nance revenue
Bank interest receivable  400 368 94 123

Total fi nance revenue  400 368 94 123

(ii) Included in net foreign exchange gains:
◆  Amounts transferred to the income statement

from the cash fl ow hedge reserve  (219) – – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenue and expenses continued

(d) Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation – plant & equipment  3,100 3,206 – –

Amortisation – capitalised software  300 374 – –

  3,400 3,580 – –

Included in cost of sales:

Amortisation – development costs (b) 662 214 – –

Total depreciation and amortisation  4,062 3,794 – –

(e) Lease payments and other expenses
included in income statement
Included in premises, lease & utilities expense:
◆ Minimum lease payments – operating lease  8,548 7,648 – –

Included in other expenses:
◆ Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment  87 101 – –

◆ Bad and doubtful debts  125 (390) – –

(f) Employee benefi ts expense

Wages & salaries and leave benefi ts  50,032 46,298 – –

Defi ned contribution plan expense  2,412 2,488 – –

Share-based payments expense  114 53 114 53

  52,558 48,839 114 53

(g) Finance costs

Finance costs paid or payable on borrowings and bank overdrafts:
– interest  5,742 5,092 – –

– other borrowing costs  1,173 1,074 – –

Total fi nance costs  6,915 6,166 – –

(h) Research and development costs

Amortisation of previously capitalised development
costs included in cost of sales (b) 662 214 – –

Research and development costs charged directly
to the income statement  3,563 4,374 – –

  4,225 4,588 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 3. Income tax

The major components of income tax expense are:

Income Statement
Current income tax

Current income tax charge  4,947 7,735 28 37

Current income tax charge on signifi cant items  (862) (2,546) – –

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  772 (1,410) – –

Deferred income tax

Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences  676 (59) – –

Income tax expense reported in the income statement  5,533 3,720 28 37

Statement of Changes in Equity
Deferred income tax related to items charged
or credited directly to equity

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (159) 796 – –

Net gain on revaluation of cash fl ow hedges  235 – – –

Income tax expense reported in equity  76 796 – –

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product
of accounting profi t before income tax multiplied by the
Group’s applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profi t before income tax  18,893 18,342 15,725 15,435

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%)  5,668 5,503 4,718 4,631

● adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  772 (1,410) – –

● effect of different rates of tax on overseas income  41 (914) – –

● rebateable dividends  – – (4,724) (4,609)

● expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes  (27) (686) 34 15

● other  (921) 1,227 – –

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement  5,533 3,720 28 37
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 Balance Sheet Income Statement

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 3. Income tax continued

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

Consolidated

Deferred tax liabilities

Brand names  1,875 1,875 – –

Provisions and accruals  76 (398) (474) –

Development costs  991 524 (467) (282)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses  668 (214) (882) (189)

Foreign currency translation reserve  (435) 333 768 –

Other  484 170 (314) (55)

Gross deferred income tax liabilities  3,659 2,290

Deferred tax assets

Losses available for offset against future taxable income  32 356 (324) –

Provisions and accruals  5,347 5,820 (473) 610

Foreign currency translation reserve  419 – 419 –

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses  (328) (5) (323) (107)

Employee benefi ts  1,652 1,480 172 82

Revaluation of inventories  657 – 657 –

Other  800 235 565 –

Gross deferred income tax assets  8,579 7,886

Deferred tax income/(expense)    (676) 59

Parent

Deferred tax liabilities  – – – –

Deferred tax assets  – – – –

Deferred tax income/(expense)    – –

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax asset  4,221 3,370 3,942 1,834

Current tax liabilities  1,731 3,100 – –
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Note 3. Income tax continued

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of $32,000 (2005: $356,000) that are available indefi nitely for offset against future 
taxable profi ts of the companies in which the losses arose.

At 30 June 2006, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2005: $nil) for taxes that would be payable 
on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities, as the Group has no liability for 
additional taxation should such amounts be remitted.

Tax consolidation
Housewares International Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group with 
effect from 1 July 2002.

The head entity, Housewares International Limited, and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group are required to account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand alone tax payer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Housewares International Limited also recognises:

(a) the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed 
from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group; and

(b) assets or liabilities arising for Housewares International Limited under the tax funding agreement as amounts receivable from or 
payable to other entities in the Group.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement supports the 
calculation of current tax liabilities (and assets) and deferred tax assets/liabilities on a stand-alone basis. Calculation is performed 
in accordance with AASB 112 Income Tax. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase/
decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, Housewares International 
Limited.

In preparing the accounts for Housewares International Limited for the current year, the following amounts have been recognised as 
tax-consolidation adjustments:

  Parent

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

Total increase/(reduction) to:

◆ current tax asset of Housewares International Limited    3,971 1,871

◆ inter-company assets of Housewares International Limited    (3,971) (1,871)

Note 4. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following refl ects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

Net profi t attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
(used in calculating basic and diluted EPS)    13,360 14,622
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    Thousands Thousands

Note 4. Earnings per share continued

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share   121,553 118,544

Effect of dilution:
◆ share options    2,877 2,406

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution   124,430 120,950

Weighted average number of converted, lapsed or cancelled potential ordinary
shares included in diluted earnings per share    150 205

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the 
date of completion of these fi nancial statements.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 5. Dividends

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares declared and 
paid during the year:

Final franked dividend for 2005 of 3.5 cents per share
(2004: 3.5 cents per share)

◆ Paid in cash (i) 2,534 3,288 2,534 3,288

◆ Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan (ii) 1,678 827 1,678 827

  4,212 4,115 4,212 4,115

Interim franked dividend for 2006 of 9.5 cents per share
(2005: 9.5 cents per share)

◆ Paid in cash (i) 8,077 7,432 8,077 7,432

◆ Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan (ii) 3,456 3,818 3,456 3,818

  11,533 11,250 11,533 11,250

Total franked dividends declared and paid during the year
of 13.0 cents per share (2005: 13.0 cents per share)

(i) Total dividends paid in cash  10,611 10,720 10,611 10,720

(ii) Total dividends reinvested  5,134 4,645 5,134 4,645

Total dividends  15,745 15,365 15,745 15,365
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 5. Dividends continued

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares proposed and 
not recognised as a liability

Final franked dividend for 2006 of 3.5 cents per share
(2005: 3.5 cents per share)  4,321 4,212 4,321 4,212

  Parent

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

(c) Franking credit balance

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent year are:
◆ franking account balance as at the end of the year at 30% (2005: 30%)   10,050 15,779

◆  franking credits/(debits) that will arise from the payment/(refund) of income tax
payable as at the end of the year    (3,942) (418)

    6,108 15,361

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:
◆  impact on the franking account of dividends proposed or declared before the

fi nancial report was authorised for issue but not recognised as distribution
to equity holders during the period    (4,321) (4,212)

    1,787 11,149

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2005: 30%).

Dividend proposed will be franked at the rate of 30% (2005: 30%).

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand (a) 13,897 4,944 2 –

  13,897 4,944 2 –

Notes:
(a) Cash at bank earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
(b) At 30 June 2006, the Group had available $46,466,000 (2005: $42,511,000) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions 

precedent had been met.
(c) The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $13,897,000 (2005: $4,944,000).
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 6. Cash and cash equivalents continued

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise the following at 30 June:

Cash and cash equivalents  13,897 4,944 2 –

Bank overdraft 18 (181) (960) – –

  13,716 3,984 2 –

(b) Reconciliation of net profi t after tax to net
cash fl ows from operations

Net profi t  13,360 14,622 15,697 15,398

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation  4,062 3,794 – –

Share options expense  114 53 114 53

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment  87 101 – –

Share of jointly controlled entities’ net (profi ts) and losses  (1,113) 415 – –

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in:

 Trade and other receivables  (5,381) 5,382 – –

 Inventories  19,654 (14,097) – –

 Prepayments  (140) (1,403) – –

 Current tax assets  (851) (3,072) (9) –

 Derivative assets  (1,442) – – –

 Deferred tax assets  (693) (606) – –

(Decrease)/increase in:

 Trade and other payables  1,900 (1,301) – –

 Provisions  (377) 127 – –

 Derivative liabilities  1,250 – – –

 Current tax liabilities  (1,369) 337 – 4

 Deferred tax liabilities  1,369 – – –

Net cash from operating activities  30,430 4,352 15,802 15,455

(c) Disclosure of fi nancing facilities
Refer to Note 18.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 7. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables (a) 65,951 59,967 – –

Allowance for uncollectible receivables  (1,230) (1,299) – –

Trade receivables, net  64,721 58,668 – –

Other receivables (b) 2,486 1,670 – –

Hedging foreign currency receivable (c) – 1,417 – –

Hedging foreign currency put option receivable (d) – 225 – –

Related party receivables:

– loan to jointly controlled entity (e) 1,245 1,091 – –

– inter-company receivables (controlled entities) (f) – – 55,091 51,470

Total trade and other receivables  68,452 63,071 55,091 51,470

Notes:
(a) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. An allowance for uncollectible receivables is made when there is objective 

evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. An allowance of $1,230,000 (Company: $Nil) has been recognised as an expense for the current year for specifi c 
debtors for which such evidence exists. The amount of the allowance/impairment loss has been measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
trade receivables and the estimated future cash fl ows expected to be received from the relevant debtors.

(b) Non-trade other receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms between 30 and 60 days.
(c) Hedging foreign currency receivable represents the net receivable arising from foreign currency forward contracts.
(d) Hedging foreign currency put options receivable represents the net receivable arising from foreign currency put option contracts.
(e) Loan to jointly controlled entity represents a loan receivable to Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. for Canadian dollar $1,000,000 (2005: Canadian dollar 

$1,000,000), which is unsecured and non-interest bearing. The loan is repayable on demand and is subordinated in favour of the joint venture partnership’s 
banker.

(f) Inter-company receivable balance between Housewares International Limited (Parent) and its controlled entities are unsecured and non-interest bearing, and are 
repayable on demand.

Details regarding the effective interest rate and credit risk of current receivables are disclosed in Note 26.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 8. Inventories

Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value) (a) 76,606 85,410 – –

Stock in transit (at cost)  9,862 20,712 – –

Total inventories (at lower of cost and net realisable value)  86,468 106,122 – –

Notes:
(a) Total inventory write-downs recognised in the income statement totalled $(2,584,000) (2005: ($3,765,000)) for the Group and $Nil (2005: $Nil) for the Company. 

This expense is included in the cost of sales line item as a cost of inventories. See Note 2(b).
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 9. Other fi nancial assets

Derivative assets  1,442 – – –

Total other fi nancial assets  1,442 – – –

Notes:
(a) Derivative assets represent the fair value receivable arising from foreign currency 

forward contracts and foreign currency put option contracts disclosed in Note 26.

Note 10. Other assets

Prepayments  3,693 3,553 – –

Total other assets  3,693 3,553 – –

Note 11. Investments in jointly controlled entities

Investments in jointly controlled entities (c) 8,760 6,652 – –

  8,760 6,652 – –

  Ownership interest %
  held by Consolidated
  Group

  Balance date  30 June  30 June
    2006 2005
 Note   % %

Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P. (i) 30 June  50.0 50.0

HWI China Limited (ii) 30 June  50.0 50.0

Notes:
(i) HWI Canada Inc. has a 50% interest in Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P., which is a Canadian limited liability partnership. Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P. is 

principally involved in the importation, distribution and marketing of homewares products in Canada. As security for the jointly controlled entity’s credit facility the 
joint venture partnership has pledged all its assets to the joint venture partnership’s banker.

(ii) HWI China Holdings Limited has a 50% interest in HWI China Limited, which is a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong. HWI China Limited is principally 
involved in the shipping administration, quality control, and factory sourcing and liaison services for the Group.

There were no impairment losses relating to the investments in jointly controlled entities and no capital commitments or other 
commitments relating to these jointly controlled entities.
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

Note 11. Investments in jointly controlled entities continued

The following table illustrates summarised fi nancial information relating to the Group’s
investment in its jointly controlled entities:

(a) Share of jointly controlled entities’ balance sheet:

Current assets    13,399 12,151

Non-current assets    676 760

Total assets    14,075 12,911

Current liabilities    (8,891) (8,332)

Non-current liabilities    – (1,091)

Total liabilities    (8,891) (9,423)

Net assets    5,184 3,488

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ income statement:

Income    31,299 24,859

Expenses    (30,155) (25,274)

Profi t/(loss) before income tax    1,144 (415)

Income tax    (31) –

Profi t/(loss) after income tax    1,113 (415)

(c) Carrying amount of investment in jointly controlled entities:

Balance at beginning of year    6,652 7,246

Change in exchange rates on opening balance    995 (28)

Share of jointly controlled entities profi ts/(losses)    1,113 (415)

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities    – (151)

Balance at end of the year    8,760 6,652

(d) Retained profi ts of the consolidated entity attributable
to the jointly controlled entities

Balance at the beginning of the year    (518) 48

Share of the jointly controlled entities profi ts/(losses)    1,113 (415)

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities    – (151)

Balance at the end of the year    595 (518)
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

Note 11. Investments in jointly controlled entities continued

(e) Share of jointly controlled entities commitments
(i) Operating lease expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:
Not later than one year    653 566

Later than one year but not later than fi ve years    2,600 2,332

Later than fi ve years    299 786

    3,552 3,684

(ii) Letters of credit outstanding    787 1,026

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 12. Other fi nancial assets

Investments at cost comprise:

Investments in controlled entities 29 – – 69,429 69,429

  – – 69,429 69,429

Note 13. Plant and equipment

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  28,112 24,958 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (17,408) (14,736) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 10,704 10,222 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  30,472 28,112 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (19,938) (17,408) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 10,534 10,704 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Carrying amount at the beginning of year  10,704 10,222 – –

Additions  2,964 4,106 – –

Additions through business combinations  257 – – –

Disposals  (247) (384) – –

Depreciation 2(d) (3,100) (3,206) – –

Net exchange difference  (44) (34) – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  10,534 10,704 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 14. Intangible assets – other

Development costs (a) 4,141 1,746 – –

Capitalised software (b) 1,219 642 – –

Brand names (c) 44,701 44,701 – –

  50,061 47,089 – –

Notes:
Development costs are internally generated and have been capitalised at cost. This intangible asset has been assessed as having 
a fi nite life and is amortised using the straight line method over a maximum period of 3 years. If an impairment indication arises, the 
recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the 
carrying amount.

Capitalised software are purchased other intangibles that have been capitalised at cost.

Brand names include intangible assets acquired through business combinations. These intangible assets have been determined to 
have indefi nite useful lives and the cost model is utilised for their measurement. This acquisition, coupled with the fact that patents 
and licences acquired have previously been renewed and that the evidence supports the Group’s ability to meet the necessary 
targets, has allowed the Group to determine that these assets have an indefi nite useful life. These assets were tested for impairment 
as at 30 June 2006 (see Note 16).

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Development costs

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  1,960 807 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (214) – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 1,746 807 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  5,017 1,960 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (876) (214) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 4,141 1,746 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Carrying amount at the beginning of year  1,746 807 – –

Additions – internal development  3,057 1,153 – –

Amortisation 2(b) (662) (214) – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  4,141 1,746 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 14. Intangible assets – other continued

(b) Computer software

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  1,720 1,132 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (1,078) (716) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 642 416 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  2,597 1,720 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (1,378) (1,078) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 1,219 642 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Carrying amount at the beginning of year  642 416 – –

Additions  879 626 – –

Amortisation 2(d) (300) (374) – –

Disposals  – (26) – –

Net exchange difference  (2) – – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  1,219 642 – –

(c) Brand names

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  44,701 44,701 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 44,701 44,701 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  44,701 44,701 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 44,701 44,701 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Carrying amount at the beginning of year  44,701 44,701 – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  44,701 44,701 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 15. Intangible assets – goodwill

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  29,465 29,465 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 29,465 29,465 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  32,799 29,465 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 32,799 29,465 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Carrying amount at the beginning of year  29,465 29,465 – –

Additions – business combination 27 3,334 – – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  32,799 29,465 – –

Note 16. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefi nite lives

Goodwill and brand names acquired through business combinations have been allocated to 6 individual cash generating units for 
impairment testing as follows:
● Breville Pty Ltd (Australia)
● Thebe International Pty Ltd (Australia)
● Metro Thebe Inc (North America)
● Breville NZ Ltd (New Zealand)
● HWI International Limited (Asia)
● HWI China Ltd (Asia)

Breville Pty Ltd
The recoverable amount of the Breville Pty Ltd unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash fl ow 
projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 13.8% (2005: 13.0%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2005: 2.5%), which is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the wholesale 
consumer products industry generally in Australia.

Thebe International Pty Ltd
The recoverable amount of the Thebe International Pty Ltd unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using 
cash fl ow projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 13.8% (2005: 13.0%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period are 
extrapolated using forecast prepared for the underlying business for the next fi ve years (2005: extrapolated using a 2.5% growth 
rate, which is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the wholesale consumer products industry generally in Australia).
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Note 16. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefi nite lives continued

Metro Thebe, Inc.
The recoverable amount of the Metro Thebe, Inc. unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash fl ow 
projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 13.8% (2005: 13.0%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2005: 2.5%), which is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the wholesale 
consumer products industry generally in Australia.

Breville NZ Ltd
The recoverable amount of the Breville NZ Ltd unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash fl ow 
projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 13.8% (2005: 13.0%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2005: 2.5%), which is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the wholesale 
consumer products industry generally in Australia.

HWI International Ltd
The recoverable amount of the HWI International Ltd unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash fl ow 
projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 13.8% (2005: 13.0%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2005: 2.5%), which is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the wholesale 
consumer products industry generally in Australia.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount of goodwill and brand names
allocated to each of the cash generating units

Breville Pty Ltd
– goodwill  8,209 8,209 – –

– brand names with indefi nite useful lives  31,803 31,803 – –

  40,012 40,012 – –

Thebe International Pty Ltd
– goodwill  15,930 12,596 – –

– brand names with indefi nite useful lives  12,898 12,898 – –

  28,828 25,494 – –

Metro Thebe, Inc
– goodwill  5,843 5,843 – –

Breville NZ Ltd
– goodwill  981 981 – –

HWI International Ltd
– goodwill  1,836 1,836 – –

All Cash Generating Units
– goodwill 15 32,799 29,465 – –

– brand names with indefi nite useful lives 14(c) 44,701 44,701 – –

  77,500 74,166 – –
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Note 16. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefi nite lives continued

Carrying amount of goodwill and brand names allocated to each of the cash generating units continued

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations for the cash generating units for 30 June 2006
and 30 June 2005
The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash fl ow projects when determining the value 
in use of the cash generating units.
● Budgeted gross margins – the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross 

margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increase for expected effi ciency improvements and expected 
growth initiatives. Thus, values assigned to gross margins refl ect past experience, except for effi ciency improvements and 
expected growth initiatives, which have been estimated at 2.5% per annum.

● Bond rates – the yield on a fi ve-year government bond rate at the beginning of the budgeted year is used.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 17. Trade and other payables

Current

Trade payables – unsecured (a) 37,437 34,343 – –

Employee benefi ts 31 3,619 3,326 – –

Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (b) 784 – – –

Non-hedging foreign currency payable (c) – 1,417 – –

Non-hedging foreign currency put option payable (d) – 81 – –

  41,840 39,167 – –

Non-current

Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (b) 392 – – –

  392 – – –

Terms and conditions relating to the above fi nancial instruments:

(a) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(b) At 30 June 2006, the consolidated entity had a deferred cash settlement representing the remaining consideration payable for 
the acquisition of the business of Britette Australia Pty Ltd (refer Note 27 for details on the business combination).

(c) Hedging foreign currency payable represents the net payable arising from foreign currency forward contracts. Under the 
contracts, the consolidated entity is required to purchase a total of US$36,821 at various dates, at fi xed exchange rates ranging 
from US$0.751 to US$0.779.

(d) Foreign currency put options represents the net payable arising from foreign currency put option contracts. Under the 
contracts, the consolidated entity has the option to purchase a total of US$30,500 at various dates, at fi xed exchange rates 
ranging from US$0.740 to US$0.755.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 18. Borrowings

Current

Bank overdrafts – on demand 6(a) 181 960 – –

Other loans:

– Bills of exchange (a) 10,881 8,254 – –

  11,062 9,214 – –

Non-current

Other loans:

– Bills of exchange (a) 66,652 69,871 – –

  66,652 69,871 – –

Notes:
(a) The bills of exchange and bank overdraft are provided by various banks. Interest rates include both fi xed and fl oating arrangements. The interest rates on fi xed 

rate borrowings are at 5.5% per annum representing the weighted average contract rate in place at year-end. The interest rates on fl oating borrowings are set on a 
daily basis at 0.9% per annum above the bank’s cost of funds for borrowings in the particular currency. Borrowings include Australian dollar, US dollar, Euro dollar, 
Japanese yen, Hong Kong dollar and New Zealand dollar denominated amounts. The ANZ bank overdraft is secured by a fi rst ranking fi xed and fl oating registered 
charge over all the assets and undertakings of Thebe International Pty Ltd and Breville Pty Ltd and is guaranteed by Housewares International Limited. The USA 
facilities are secured by a fi rst priority security interest over the assets of Metro/Thebe, Inc. in favour of City National Bank. The total carrying value of the assets 
secured under the above borrowings amounts to $262,704,000 (2005: 257,960,000).

Bills of exchange
Bills of exchange have maturities ranging from 1 to 3 months with effective interest rates of 5.9% to 8.3% (2005: 5.2% to 7.9%).

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
   Note $’000 $’000

Financing facilities available
At reporting date, the following fi nancial facilities have been
negotiated and were available to the Group:

Facilities used at the reporting date   (a) 111,421 114,079

Facilities unused at the reporting date   (b) 65,420 51,932

Total facilities   (c) 176,841 166,011

(a) Facilities used at the reporting date:
– Bills of exchange facility    66,652 69,870

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    1 2

– Trade fi nance and foreign currency overdrafts    17,043 17,671

– Business transactions facility    14,847 14,848

– Working capital/documentary credit    11,167 9,977

– Other facilities    1,711 1,711

    111,421 114,079
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
    $’000 $’000

Note 18. Borrowings continued

Financing facilities available continued

(b) Facilities unused at the reporting date:
– Bills of exchange facility    9,148 5,930

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    999 998

– Trade fi nance and foreign currency overdrafts    36,319 35,583

– Business transactions facility    – –

– Working capital/documentary credit    13,470 3,937

– Other facilities    5,484 5,484

    65,420 51,932

(c) Total facilities:
– Bills of exchange facility    75,800 75,800

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    1,000 1,000

– Trade fi nance and foreign currency overdrafts    53,362 53,254

– Business transactions facility    14,847 14,848

– Working capital/documentary credit    24,637 13,914

– Other facilities    7,195 7,195

    176,841 166,011

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 19. Provisions

Current

Warranty and faulty goods  2,075 1,916 – –

Employee benefi ts – long service 31(a) 1,398 1,466 – –

Restructuring  – 142 – –

Onerous lease contracts  166 477 – –

Total current provisions (a) 3,639 4,001 – –

Non-current

Employee benefi ts – long service 31(a) 936 797 – –

Onerous lease contracts  – 154 – –

 (a) 936 951 – –
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 Consolidated

  Warranty Employee  Onerous
  and faulty benefi ts – Restruc- lease
  goods  long service turing  contracts Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 19. Provisions continued

(a) Movement in provisions
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year:

Current  1,916 1,466 142 477 4,001

Non-current  – 797 – 154 951

Total  1,916 2,263 142 631 4,952

Movement in provisions during the year:

Additional provisions made in the year  7,890 184 – – 8,074

Amounts utilised during the year  (7,790) (113) (142) (465) (8,510)

Net exchange differences  59 – – – 59

Net movement  159 71 (142) (465) (377)

Carrying amount at the end of the year:

Current  2,075 1,398 – 166 3,639

Non-current  – 936 – – 936

Total  2,075 2,334 – 166 4,575

There were no movements in provisions in the parent entity’s accounts during the years ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006.

(a) Warranty and faulty goods
A provision for warranty and faulty goods represents the present value of the best estimate of the future sacrifi ce of economic 
benefi ts expected that will be required for warranty and faulty goods claims on products sold. This estimate is based on the 
historical trends experienced on the level of repairs and returns. It is expected that these costs will be incurred in the next year. 
Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranty and faulty goods were based on the level of warranty and faulty goods 
claims experienced during the last year.

(b) Restructuring
The provision for restructuring and termination costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the costs directly 
and necessarily caused by the restructuring that are not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity, including termination 
benefi ts. A provision was recognised in April 2005 in relation to the restructure of the Homewares business, which was completed 
during May 2006.

(c) Onerous lease contracts
The provision for onerous lease contracts represents the present value of the future lease payments that the consolidated entity is 
presently obligated to make in respect of onerous lease contracts under non-cancellable operating lease agreements, less revenue 
expected to be earned on the lease including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where applicable. The estimate may vary as a 
result of changes in the utilisation of the leased premises and sub-lease arrangements where applicable. This provision relates to 
the lease associated with closure of the Rydalmere warehouse in October 2004, which will expire in September 2006.
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Note 19. Provisions continued

(d) Employee benefi ts – long service
The provision for employee benefi ts represents the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using appropriate market yields at the 
reporting date to estimate the future cash outfl ows.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 20. Other fi nancial liabilities

Current

Derivative liabilities (a) 1,250 – – –

Total other fi nancial liabilities  1,250 – – –

Notes:
(a) Derivative liabilities represent the fair value payable arising from foreign 

currency forward contracts and foreign currency put option contracts 
disclosed in Note 26.

Note 21. Issued capital

Ordinary shares – issued (a) 128,894 123,686 128,894 123,686

Ordinary shares – reserved under SEOP (b) (657) (1,114) (657) (1,114)

Total contributed equity  128,237 122,572 128,237 122,572

Effective 1 July 1998, the then applicable Corporations legislation abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value 
shares. Accordingly, the Parent does not have authorised capital, nor par value, in respect of its issued shares.

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the 
proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares 
entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.

  Parent

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  Number  Number
 Note  of Shares $’000  of Shares $’000

(a) Movements in ordinary issued shares for the period:

Beginning of the year  120,313,918 123,686 117,322,262 118,044

Issued during the year

– dividend reinvestment plan 5(a) 3,100,267 5,134 2,294,990 4,645

– exercise of options – non-recourse loans (i) 40,000 74 666,666 942

– exercise of options – cash (ii) – – 30,000 55

End of the year  123,454,185 128,894 120,313,918 123,686

(i) During the year, 40,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares (2005: 666,666 options). The average 
value placed on these issues was $1.85 per share (2005: $1.41 per share). Details are provided in Note 30.

(ii) During the previous year, 30,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares. The average value placed on 
these issues was $1.85 per share. Details are provided in Note 30.
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  Parent

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  Number  Number
 Note  of Shares $’000  of Shares $’000

Note 21. Issued capital continued

(b) Movements in ordinary reserved shares for the period:

Beginning of the year  (855,000) (1,114) (1,351,668) (1,488)

Ordinary reserved shares issued during the year (i) (40,000) (74) (666,666) (942)

Ordinary reserved shares released from share-based payment (ii) 543,000 531 1,163,334 1,316

End of the year  (352,000) (657) (855,000) (1,114)

(i) During the year, 40,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary reserved shares (2005: 666,666 options). The 
average value placed on these issues was $1.85 per share (2005: $1.41 per share). Details are provided in Note 30.

(ii) During the year, 543,000 ordinary reserved shares were repaid (2005: 1,163,334 options). The average value placed on these 
issues was $0.98 per share (2005: $1.13 per share). Details are provided in Note 30.

(c) Options over ordinary shares:
The company has two share based payment option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company’s shares have 
been granted to certain directors and senior executives (refer Note 30). At the end of the year there were 4,806,666 (2005: 
2,032,666) unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options were outstanding.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 22. Reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve (a) (1,450) (1,856) – –

Employee equity benefi ts reserve (b) 320 206 320 206

Cash fl ow hedge reserve (c) (551) – – –

Total reserves  (1,681) (1,650) 320 206

(a) Movement in foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of year  (1,856) – – –

Currency translation differences  565 (2,652) – –

Tax effect of currency translation differences  (159) 796 – –

Balance at end of year  (1,450) (1,856) – –

(b) Movement in employee equity benefi ts reserve

Balance at beginning of year  206 153 206 153

Share-based payments  114 53 114 53

Balance at end of year  320 206 320 206
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 22. Reserves continued

(c) Movement in cash fl ow hedge reserve

Balance at beginning of year  – – – –

Net gains on cash fl ow hedges  (786) – – –

Tax effect of net gains on cash fl ow hedges  235 – – –

Balance at end of year  (551) – – –

Nature and purpose of reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the fi nancial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Employee equity benefi ts reserve
This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefi ts provided to employees and directors as part of their remuneration. Refer 
to Note 30 for further details of these plans.

Cash fl ow hedge reserve
This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash fl ow hedge that is determined to be an 
effective hedge.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 23. Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of the year  33,340 34,083 (45) (78)

Application of AASB 132 and AASB 139 1(i)(ii) 234 – – –

Net profi t for the year attributable to members
of Housewares International Limited  13,360 14,622 15,697 15,398

Dividends 5(a) (15,745) (15,365) (15,745) (15,365)

Balance at end of the year  31,189 33,340 (93) (45)

Note 24. Segment information

The Group’s operating companies are organised and managed separately according to their geographic location. As the risks and 
rates of return are predominately affected by differences in geographic locations the Group’s primary segment reporting format is 
geographic segments. As Group’s operating companies provides similar product offerings to each geographic location and serves 
the one wholesale market there is no secondary business segment disclosed.

Transfer prices between geographic segments are set at arms length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 
Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between geographic segments. Those transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.
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Note 24. Segment information continued

Geographic Segments
The following table represents the revenue and profi t information and certain asset and liability information regarding geographic 
segments for the year ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

  Australia New Zealand Asia Nth America Total
Year ended 30 June 2006  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers  271,181 41,841 30,661 80,503 424,186

Other income  4,070 1,134 238 87 5,529

Total segment revenue  275,251 42,975 30,899 80,590 429,715

Inter-segment elimination      (997)

Non-segment revenues

 Interest revenue      400

Total consolidated revenue      429,118

Results

Segment result  6,157 3,236 7,669 7,395 24,457

Unallocated expenses      (162)

Profi t before tax and fi nance costs      24,295

Finance costs, net      (6,515)

Share of profi ts of jointly controlled entities      1,113

Profi t before income tax expense      18,893

Income tax expense      (5,533)

Net profi t for the year      13,360

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets  212,030 14,696 2,535 38,085 267,346

Investment in jointly controlled entities      8,760

Unallocated assets      12,800

Total assets      288,906

Segment liabilities  30,326 2,799 4,300 9,602 47,027

Unallocated liabilities      84,134

Total liabilities      131,161

Other segment information

Capital expenditure  2,505 104 25 330 2,964

Depreciation & amortisation  3,769 104 16 173 4,062



71HWI Annual Report 2006

Note 24. Segment information continued

  Australia New Zealand Asia Nth America Total
Year ended 30 June 2005  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers  295,685 43,721 19,849 49,111 408,366

Other income  1,497 – 114 31 1,642

Total segment revenue  297,182 43,721 19,963 49,142 410,008

Inter-segment elimination      (744)

Non-segment revenues

 Interest revenue      368

Total consolidated revenue      409,632

Results

Segment result  13,635 2,591 5,531 2,850 24,607

Unallocated expenses      (52)

Profi t before tax and fi nance costs      24,555

Finance costs, net      (5,798)

Share of profi ts of jointly controlled entities      (415)

Profi t before income tax expense      18,342

Income tax expense      (3,720)

Net profi t for the year      14,622

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets  214,763 19,934 3,188 27,063 264,948

Investment in jointly controlled entities      6,652

Unallocated assets      11,256

Total assets      282,856

Segment liabilities  32,100 6,309 2,598 3,551 44,558

Unallocated liabilities      84,036

Total liabilities      128,594

Other segment information

Capital expenditure  3,832 142 8 124 4,106

Depreciation & amortisation  3,456 141 48 149 3,794
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Note 25. Financial risk 
management objectives and 
policies

The Group’s principal fi nancial 
instruments, other than derivatives, 
comprise bills of exchange, bank 
overdrafts, and cash at bank.

The main purpose of these fi nancial 
instruments is to raise fi nance for the 
Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other fi nancial assets and 
liabilities, such as trade receivables 
and trade payables, which arise directly 
from its operations. The Group also 
enters into derivative transactions, 
including principally interest rate swaps, 
forward currency contracts, and foreign 
currency put option contracts. The 
purpose is to manage the interest 
rate and currency risks arising from 
the Group’s business operations. It is, 
and has been throughout the period 
under review, the Group’s policy that 
no trading in fi nancial instruments shall 
be undertaken. The main risks arising 
from the Group’s fi nancial instruments 
are cash fl ow interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and credit risk. The 
Board reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks and they 
are summarised below.

Details of the signifi cant accounting 
policies and methods adopted, including 
the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, 
in respect of each class of fi nancial 
asset, fi nancial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in Note 1 
to the fi nancial statements.

Cash fl ow interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in market interest rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s long-term debt 
obligations with a fl oating interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage its 
interest cost using a mix of fi xed and 
variable rate debt. The Group’s policy 
is to keep between 25% and 55% of 
its borrowings at fi xed rates of interest. 

To manage this mix in a cost-effi cient 
manner, the Group enters into interest 
rate swaps, in which the Group agrees 
to exchange, at specifi ed intervals, the 
difference between fi xed and variable 
rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed-upon notional 
principal amount. These swaps are 
designated to hedge underlying debt 
obligations. At 30 June 2006, after 
taking into account the effect of interest 
rate swaps, approximately 50% of the 
Group’s borrowings are at a fi xed rate 
of interest.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency 
exposures. Such exposure arises from 
purchases of inventory by an operating 
unit in currencies other than the unit’s 
functional currency (purchases are 
predominately US dollar denominated).

Also a result of the Group’s investment 
in its United States operations, the 
Group’s balance sheet can be affected 
signifi cantly by movements in the USD/
AUD exchange rates. The Group current 
policy is not to hedge this exposure.

To hedge exposure arising from the 
purchase of inventories in currencies 
other than the business units functional 
currency a combination of put option 
contracts and forward exchange 
contracts are utilised. At inception these 
hedge contracts are designated as cash 
fl ow hedges to hedge the exposure to 
the variability in cash fl ows arising as a 
result of movements in exchange rates 
below contracted exchange rates for 
put options and for movements above 
or below a contracted exchange rate for 
foreign exchange contracts.

Credit risk
Credit risk represents the loss that would 
be recognised if counterparties failed to 
perform as contracted. The credit risk on 
fi nancial assets, excluding investments, 
of the consolidated entity that has been 
recognised on the Balance Sheet is 
the carrying value amount, net of any 
uncollectible receivables.

The Group trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties. It is the 
Group’s policy that all customers who 
wish to trade on credit terms are subject 
to credit verifi cation procedures.

In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Group’s exposure to bad 
debts is not signifi cant. There are no 
signifi cant concentrations of credit risk 
across the Group.

With respect to credit risk arising 
from the other fi nancial assets of the 
Group, which comprise cash and 
cash equivalents and certain derivative 
instruments, the Group’s exposure to 
credit risk arises from default of the 
counter party, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments. These counter parties are 
large multi-national banks.

Since the Group trades only with 
recognised third parties, there is 
no requirement for collateral.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a 
balance between continuity of funding 
and fl exibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts and bills of exchange. The 
Group’s bank facilities carry a fi ve year 
term in Australia, and a one year term in 
the USA. As at 30 June 2006 86% of 
the Group’s debt will mature in fi ve years 
and 14% in less than one year.

Note 26. Financial 
Instruments

Fair Values
The carrying amounts and estimated 
net fair values of fi nancial assets and 
fi nancial liabilities held at balance date 
are not materially different. The net fair 
value of a fi nancial asset or a fi nancial 
liability is the amount at which the 
asset could be exchanged, or liability 
settled in a current transaction between 
willing parties.
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Note 26. Financial Instruments

Interest rate risk
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the fi nancial instruments exposed to interest rate risk:
Year ended 30 June 2006

   >1 – < 2 >2 – < 3 >3 – < 4 >4 – < 5
  < 1 year  years years years years >5 years Total WAEIR
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 %

Consolidated

Financial assets

Floating rate

Cash at bank  13,868 – – – – – 13,868 5.6

WAEIR %  5.6 – – – – – 5.6

Financial liabilities

Floating rate

Bank overdraft  181 – – – – – 181 3.1

WAEIR %  3.1 – – – – – 3.1

Fixed rate

Bills of exchange  77,533 – – – – – 77,533 6.7

WAEIR %  7.0 – – – – – 7.0

WAEIR – Weighted average effective interest rate

The effect of interest rate swaps is discussed in interest rate swaps activities below.

Parent
No fi nancial instruments in the Parent entity are exposed to interest rate risk.

Notes
Interest on fi nancial instruments classifi ed as fl oating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year.

Interest on fi nancial instruments classifi ed as fi xed rate is fi xed until maturity of the instrument.

The other fi nancial instruments of the Group and the Parent that are not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and 
therefore not subject to interest rate risk.
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Note 26. Financial Instruments continued

Interest rate risk continued

Year ended 30 June 2005

   >1 – < 2 >2 – < 3 >3 – < 4 >4 – < 5
  < 1 year  years years years years >5 years Total WAEIR
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 %

Consolidated

Financial assets

Floating rate

Cash at bank  2,768 – – – – – 2,768 5.3

WAEIR %  5.3 – – – – – 5.3

Financial liabilities

Floating rate

Bank overdraft  960 – – – – – 960 3.4

WAEIR %  3.4 – – – – – 3.4

Fixed rate

Bills of exchange  78,125 – – – – – 78,125 6.8

Interest rate swaps  (32,500) 32,500 – – – – – N/A

WAEIR %  N/A N/A – – – – N/A

WAEIR – Weighted average effective interest rate

The effect of interest rate swaps is discussed in interest rate swaps activities below.

Parent
No fi nancial instruments in the Parent entity are exposed to interest rate risk.

Notes
Interest on fi nancial instruments classifi ed as fl oating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year.

Interest on fi nancial instruments classifi ed as fi xed rate is fi xed until maturity of the instrument.

The other fi nancial instruments of the Group and the Parent that are not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and 
therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

Hedging activities
Cash fl ow hedges
At 30 June 2006, the Group held twelve forward exchange contracts designated as hedges of forecast purchases from suppliers 
(fi rm commitments). The foreign currency contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency risk of the future purchases, and 
mature within the six month period after the reporting date.
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 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  Foreign  Foreign 
  currency Average currency Average
  amount contract amount contract
  $’000 rate $’000  rate

Note 26. Financial Instruments continued

Hedging activities continued

Summary of foreign exchange contracts
Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar  22,231 0.7400 31,321 0.7579

Euro dollar  – – 624 0.6632

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollar  2,720 0.6670 5,500 0.6940

The cash fl ow hedges of the forecast purchases were assessed to be highly effective and as at 30 June 2006, a net unrealised 
gain of $314,000 (2005: $nil), with a related deferred tax charge of $101,000 (2005: $nil) is included in equity in respect of 
these contracts.

At 30 June 2006, the Group held three foreign exchange put option contracts designated as hedges of forecast purchases 
from suppliers (forecast transactions). The put option contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency risk of the forecast 
purchases, and mature within the six month period after the reporting date.

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  Foreign  Foreign 
  currency Average currency Average
  amount contract amount contract
  $’000 rate $’000  rate

Summary of foreign exchange put option contracts
Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar  28,000 0.7300 30,500 0.7508

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollar  5,000 0.6700 – –

The cash fl ow hedges of the expected forecast purchases were assessed to be highly effective and as at 30 June 2006, a net 
unrealised loss of $1,100,000 (2005: $nil), with a related deferred tax asset of $335,000 (2005: $nil) is included in equity in respect 
of these contracts.

Interest rate swaps
At 30 June 2006, the Group had interest rate swap agreements in place with a notional amount of $32,500,000 (2005: 
$32,500,000) whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the BBSW on the notional amount, and pays an average fi xed rate 
of interest of 5.54% (2005: 5.54%).

The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its bills of exchange. In 2006, an unrealised gain 
of $60,000 is included in income statement in respect of these contracts.
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Note 27. Business Combination

Acquisition of the business of Britette Australia Pty Ltd
On 1 December 2005, the consolidated entity purchased certain assets and liabilities of the commercial cleaning business from 
Britette Australia Pty Limited.

The total cost of the combination was $4,448,000 and comprised costs directly attributable to the combination.

The fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

  Consolidated

    Recognised Carrying 
    on acquisition Value
   Note $’000 $’000

Inventories    951 951

Plant and equipment    258 258

    1,209 1,209

Trade and other payables    (95) (95)

    (95) (95)

Fair value of identifi able net assets    1,114 1,114

Goodwill arising on acquisition   15(i) 3,334

    4,448

Cost of the combination:

Cash paid for business combination (including costs associated
with the business combination    3,272

Payables related to purchase of business    1,176

Total cost of the combination    4,448

From the date of the business combination, the SABCO Commercial business (formerly the business of Britette Australia 
Pty Limited) has contributed $3,274,000 of sales to the Group. It is not practicable to determine the net profi t contribution 
of SABCO Commercial due to the integration of certain fi nancial data.
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Note 28. Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
Operating leases are entered into mainly as a means of acquiring access to commercial property and storage facilities and the 
use of minor items of plant and equipment. Rental payments are generally fi xed; however certain property leases contain a rental 
infl ation escalation clause, an agreed rental percentage increase clause, a market rental review clause, or a mix of these clauses 
over the term of the operating lease.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year  7,836 8,650 – –

After one year but not later than fi ve years  31,670 27,206 – –

More than fi ve years  30,396 42,779 – –

  69,902 78,635 – –

Contingent rentals are determined with reference to known existing rental payments and known rental increases during the existing 
term of each operating lease.

No purchase options exist in relation to operating leases and no operating lease contains restrictions on fi nancing or other leasing 
activities. Certain property leases contain renewal option clauses.

Contingencies
Parent Entity
The parent company has guaranteed under the terms of an ASIC Class Order any defi ciency of funds if Thebe International Pty Ltd, 
Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd are wound up. No such defi ciency currently exists.

Group
Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for termination without cause under service agreements with executive directors of the 
company and certain offi cers of the group. The compensation for termination without cause is equal to the total of amounts that 
would have been payable under the agreement during the balance of the term of the agreement.

Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for restrictive covenants under service agreements with executive directors of the 
company and certain offi cers of the group upon expiration or termination of these agreements.

Indemnity agreements have been entered into with executive directors of the company and with certain offi cers of the group in 
respect of expenses and liabilities they incur in their offi cial capacities. No monetary limit applies to these agreements and no 
known obligations have emerged as a result of these agreements.

In accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement for Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P., HWI Canada, Inc. has granted 
a put option to the joint venture partner (“partner”) that can be exercised during the period of three months commencing on 
1 January 2007. If the partner exercises the put option, HWI Canada, Inc. must purchase the partner’s partnership interest for 
the put option price on the completion date. Consequently, a contingent liability exists that will only be confi rmed by the exercising 
of this put option in the future, and which is outside the control of the group. It is impracticable at this time to make an estimate of 
the potential fi nancial effects, as the put option price is dependent on future fi nancial data.

Cross guarantees given by Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Holdings Pty Ltd, and Breville Pty 
Ltd are described in Note 29(a).
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Note 29. Related party disclosure

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of Housewares International Limited and the subsidiaries 
listed in the following table.

 Equity Interest Investment

Legal entity Country of   30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
 Incorporation  2006  2005  2006  2005
  Note % % $’000 $’000

Thebe International Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 69,429 69,429

Investments not held directly by Housewares International Limited:

Breville Holdings Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 – –

Breville Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 – –

Sarina Enterprises Pty Ltd Australia (b) – 100 – –

Srinigar Investments Pty Ltd Australia (b) – 100 – –

Kashmir Investments Pty Ltd Australia (b) – 100 – –

Breville R&D Pty Ltd Australia  100 100 – –

Breville NZ Ltd New Zealand  100 100 – –

Breville International Pty Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

Gannet Holdings Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

HWI Export Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

Thebe International, Inc. USA  100 100 – –

Metro/Thebe, Inc. USA  100 100 – –

Holding HWI Canada, Inc Canada  100 100 – –

HWI Canada, Inc Canada  100 100 – –

HWI China Holdings Limited Hong Kong  100 100 – –

     69,429 69,429

Housewares International Limited is the ultimate parent of the Group incorporated in Australia.

(a) Entities subject to class order relief
Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty 
Ltd from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their fi nancial reports.

As a condition of the Class Order, Housewares International Limited and Thebe International Pty Ltd, entered into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee on 4 November 1999. This deed was subsequently assumed by Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holding Pty Ltd under an 
assumption deed dated 19 December 2001. The effect of the deed is that Housewares International Limited has guaranteed to 
pay any defi ciency in the event of winding up of either controlled entity or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of 
overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in the 
event that Housewares International Limited is wound up or if it does not meet its obligation under the terms of overdrafts, loans, 
leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee.

The entities comprising the Class Order “Closed Group” are Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville 
Pty Ltd, and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd. The consolidated income statement and balance sheet of the entities that are members of 
the “Closed Group” are as follows:
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Note 29. Related party disclosure continued

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of Housewares International Limited and the subsidiaries 
listed in the following table.  Closed Group

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
   Note $’000 $’000

(i) Consolidated balance sheet for Class Order Closed Group

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents    9,547 3,066

Trade and other receivables    45,699 45,608

Inventories    59,999 75,062

Other fi nancial assets    609 –

Current tax asset    3,942 1,834

Other assets    2,578 2,548

Total Current Assets    122,374 128,118

Non-current Assets

Other fi nancial assets    18,755 18,292

Plant and equipment    9,615 9,882

Intangible assets    75,995 70,157

Deferred tax assets    4,942 5,373

Total Non-Current Assets    109,307 103,704

Total Assets    231,681 231,822

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables    26,276 28,438

Borrowings    181 529

Current tax liabilities    – 37

Other fi nancial liabilities    1,052 –

Provisions    2,521 2,962

Total Current Liabilities    30,030 31,966

Non-current Liabilities

Trade and other payables    392 –

Borrowings    65,400 63,400

Deferred tax liabilities    2,908 2,229

Provisions    936 700

Total Non-Current Liabilities    69,636 66,329

Total Liabilities    99,666 98,295

Net Assets    132,015 133,527

Equity

Issued capital    128,237 122,572

Reserves    (704) (191)

Retained earnings   29(ii) 4,482 11,146

Total Equity    132,015 133,527
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  Closed Group

    30 June 30 June
     2006  2005
   Note $’000 $’000

Note 29. Related party disclosure continued

(ii) Consolidated income statement for Class Order Closed Group

Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax expense    9,016 11,660

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities    (102) (789)

Net profi t    8,914 10,871

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year    11,146 15,640

Application of AASB 132 and AASB 139    167 –

Dividends paid or reinvested    (15,745) (15,365)

Retained earnings at the end of the year   29(i) 4,482 11,146

(a) Ultimate Controlling Entity
The ultimate controlling entity of the group in Australia is Housewares International Limited.

(b) Wholly Owned Group Transactions
During the fi nancial period, loans were advanced and repayments received on inter-company accounts with related parties in the 
wholly owned group. These transactions were undertaken on commercial terms and conditions. The amounts due and receivable 
are set out in the respective notes to the fi nancial statements.

The ownership interests in related parties in the wholly owned group are set out in Note 29.

(c) Other Related Party Transactions
HWI Canada Inc. (a member of the wholly owned group) has provided a loan to Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. (jointly controlled 
entity) for Canadian Dollar $1,000,000 (2005: $1,000,000), the Australian Dollar equivalent of this balance is $1,245,000 (2005: 
$1,091,000). No interest has been charged, giving rise to no interest income.

Note 30. Share-based payment plans

Senior executive option plan (SEOP1)
An option plan exists where executive directors, executives and certain members of staff of the group were issued with options 
over the ordinary shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, were issued in accordance 
with performance guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options were issued for a term 
of fi ve years and are exercisable in equal tranches on the fi rst three anniversaries of the date of issue. The exercise price of the 
options is equal to the market price of the shares on the date of grant. The options cannot be transferred and are not quoted on 
the ASX. There are not cash settlement alternatives.

Second senior executive option plan (SEOP2)
An option plan exists where executive directors, executives and certain members of staff of the group are issued with options over 
the ordinary shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in accordance with 
performance guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options are issued for a term of fi ve 
years and are exercisable in equal tranches on the fi rst three anniversaries of the date of issue. The options vest if and when the 
Group’s earnings per share increase by 10%. If this increase is not met within the three year from the date of grant, the options are 
forfeited. The contractual life of each option granted is fi ve years. There are no cash alternatives. The options cannot be transferred 
and will not be quoted on the ASX.
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Note 30. Share-based payment plans continued

Options granted under the Senior Executive Option Plans
The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in Note 2(f).

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of and movements in share options 
issued during the year:

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  Number  WAEP  of options WAEP
 Note of options  of options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year (a) 2,032,666 1.8780 2,840,332 1.7675

Granted during the year  3,105,000 1.8634 – –

Exercised during the year (b) (40,000) 1.8500 (696,666) 1.4319

Forfeited during the year  (291,000) 1.9513 (111,000) 1.8500

Outstanding at the end of the year (a),(c) 4,806,666 1.8644 2,032,666 1.8780

Exercisable at the end of the year  1,445,000 1.8500 914,333 1.8784

Notes

(a) Included within this balance are 1,258,000 options over shares (2005: 1,291,000 shares) that have not been recognised in 
accordance with AASB 2 Share-based payments as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002. These options 
have not been subsequently modifi ed and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 2.

(b) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $1.77.

(c) The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2006 is represented by:

 Number   Grant Vesting Expiry WAEP
 of options Note date date date $

 356,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 400,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 04 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 05 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (i) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 05 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 499,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 05 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 06 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (i) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 06 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 333,333 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 06 15 Dec 07 1.6600

 665,008 (iv) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 07 7 Apr 08 1.9600

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 07 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 333,333 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 07 15 Dec 08 1.6600

 665,000 (iv) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 08 7 Apr 09 1.9600

 333,334 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 08 15 Dec 09 1.6600

 664,992 (iv) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 09 7 Apr 10 1.9600

 300,000 (v) Various Various Various 1.8500

 4,806,666     1.8644
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Options granted under the Senior Executive Option Plans

(i) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX
on the business day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.22.

(ii) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX
on the business day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.75.

(iii) These options may only be exercisable if the relevant normalised EPS growth rate exceeds 10%.

(iv) These options may only be exercisable if the relevant normalised EPS growth rate exceeds 10%.

(v) These options lapsed subsequent to 30 June 2006.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 June 2006 is between 1 and 4 years 
(2005: 1 and 3 years).

The range exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year were $1.85 to $2.29 (2005: $1.76 to $2.29).

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.22 (2005: n/a).

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the senior executive option plans is estimated as at the date of grant 
using either a binomial or Black-Scholes option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the years ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006:

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

  (Black- (Black-
Average of 1st, 2nd & 3rd tranches:  Scholes) Scholes)

Dividend yield (%)  6.83 8.33  n/a

Expected volatility (%)  34.25 32.97  n/a

Historical volatility (%)  34.25 32.97  n/a

Risk-free interest rate (%)  5.83 5.67  n/a

Expected life of option (years)  2 years 2 years  n/a

Option exercise price ($)  1.96 1.66  n/a

Weighted average share price at grant date ($)  1.84 1.56  n/a

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. 
The expected volatility refl ects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporate into the measurement of fair value.
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Note 31. Employee Benefi ts

The number of full-time equivalents employed by the consolidated group as at 30 June 2006 was 562 (30 June 2005: 544). The 
number of full-time equivalents employed by the parent entity as at 30 June 2006 was nil (30 June 2005: nil).

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Employee benefi ts

The aggregate employee benefi t liability is comprised of:

Trade and other payables (current) 17 3,619 3,326 – –

Provisions – long service (current) 19 1,398 1,466 – –

Provisions – long service (non-current) 19 936 797 – –

  5,953 5,589 – –

Note 32. Key Management Personnel

(a) Details and remuneration of Key Management Personnel
The remuneration disclosures of key management personnel are provided in the directors’ report designated as audited. The 
company has applied the exemption under the Corporations Amendments Regulation 2006 that exempts listed companies from 
providing remuneration disclosures in relating to their key management personnel in their annual fi nancial reports by Accounting 
Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

(b) Details of Key Management Personnel

(i) Directors
J Schmoll Non-executive chairman (appointed 12 April 2006)
J Schmoll Non-executive director (1 July 2005 – 12 April 2006)
J Hersch Managing director (appointed 24 November 2005)
J Hersch Executive director (1 July 2005 – 24 November 2005)
S Klein Non-executive director
S Fisher Non-executive director
J McConnell Non-executive director
W Wavish Non-executive chairman (24 November 2005 – 12 April 2006)
W Wavish Executive chairman (1 July 2005 – 24 November 2005)
M Kirkby General manager corporate fi nance (appointed 24 November 2005)
M Kirkby Executive director (1 July 2005 – 24 November 2005)

(ii) Executives
V Cheung Managing director Hong Kong
M Delauney General manager sales & new business development (1 July 2005 – 17 May 2006)
A Gelemanovic Group human resources manager
L Jackson CFO/company secretary (maternity leave commenced 28 February 2006)
J Kelso CEO SABCO (appointed 1 September 2005)
B Liu CEO Metro Marketing
M Melis General manager product development and manufacturing
P Milburn Group risk manager/company secretary

There were no changes of the CEO or key management personnel after reporting date and the date the fi nancial report was 
authorised for issue.
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(c) Compensation of Key Management Personnel

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Compensation by Category: Key Management Personnel

Short-term  4,245 2,932 – –

Post employment  282 240 – –

Other long-term  35 31 – –

Termination benefi ts  29 – – –

Share-based payment  93 59 – –

Total  4,684 3,262 – –

(d) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated)

  Balance Granted as  Net Balance Vested at 30 June 2006

  at 1 July Remuner- Options Change at 30 June  Not
30 June 2006  2005 ation Exercised Other # 2006 Total  exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J Schmoll  – – – – – – – –

J Hersch  166,666 1,000,000 – – 1,166,666 166,666 166,666 –

S Klein  – – – – – – – –

S Fisher  – – – – – – – –

J McConnell  – – – – – – – –

W Wavish  – – – – – – – –

M Kirkby  – 200,000 – – 200,000 – – –

Executives

V Cheung  90,000 – – – 90,000 90,000 – 90,000

M Delauney  90,000 60,000 – – 150,000 90,000 90,000 –

A Gelemanovic  – 100,000 – – 100,000 – – –

L Jackson  20,000 100,000 (20,000) – 100,000 – – –

J Kelso  – – – – – – – –

B Liu  – 100,000 – – 100,000 – – –

M Melis  90,000 60,000 – – 150,000 60,000 60,000 –

P Milburn  30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000 – 30,000

Total  486,666 1,620,000 (20,000) – 2,086,666 436,666 316,666 120,000

# Includes forfeitures.
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Note 32. Key Management Personnel continued

(d) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) continued

  Balance Granted as  Net Balance Vested at 30 June 2005

  at 1 July Remuner- Options Change at 30 June  Not
30 June 2005  2004 ation Exercised Other # 2005 Total  exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J Schmoll  – – – – – – – –

J Hersch  416,666 – (250,000) – 166,666 83,333 83,333 –

S Klein  – – – – – – – –

S Fisher  – – – – – – – –

J McConnell  – – – – – – – –

W Wavish  – – – – – – – –

M Kirkby  166,666 – (166,666) – – – – –

F Jones  – – – – – – – –

P Morgan  – – – – – – – –

Executives

V Cheung  90,000 – – – 90,000 60,000 – 60,000

M Delauney  90,000 – – – 90,000 60,000 – 60,000

A Gelemanovic  – – – – – – – –

R Hoare  60,000 – – – 60,000 40,000 – 40,000

L Jackson  40,000 – (20,000) – 20,000 – – –

J Kelso  – – – – – – – –

B Liu  – – – – – – – –

M Melis  90,000 – – – 90,000 30,000 30,000 –

Total  953,332 – (436,666) – 516,666 273,333 113,333 160,000

# Includes forfeitures.

Refer Note 30 and remuneration report (contained within the directors’ report designated as audited) for details on the 
above options.
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(e) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated)
Ordinary Shares held in Housewares International Limited (number)

  Balance at Granted as On Exercise Net Change Balance at
30 June 2006  1 July 2005  Remuneration  of Options  Other # 30 June 2006

Directors

J Schmoll  10,000 – – – 10,000

J Hersch  2,143,292 – – – 2,143,292

S Klein  101,049 – – 8,032 109,081

S Fisher  246 – – 21 267

J McConnell  60,059 – – 2,788 62,847

W Wavish  104,727 – – N/A N/A

M Kirkby  511,628 – – (500,000) 11,628

Executives

V Cheung  – – – – –

M Delauney  10,000 – – N/A N/A

A Gelemanovic  – – – – –

L Jackson  40,000 – 20,000 – 60,000

J Kelso  – – – – –

B Liu  – – – – –

M Melis  – – – – –

P Milburn  N/A – – – 60,000

Total  2,981,001 – 20,000 (523,906) 2,457,115
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Note 32. Key Management Personnel continued

(e) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) continued

Ordinary Shares held in Housewares International Limited (number) continued

  Balance at Granted as On Exercise Net Change Balance at
30 June 2005  1 July 2004  Remuneration  of Options  Other # 30 June 2005

Directors

J Schmoll  N/A – – 10,000 10,000

J Hersch  1,893,292 – 250,000 – 2,143,292

S Klein  96,487 – – 4,562 101,049

S Fisher  N/A – – 246 246

J McConnell  57,923 – – 2,136 60,059

W Wavish  N/A – – 104,727 104,727

M Kirkby  344,253 – 166,666 709 511,628

F Jones  68,111 – N/A N/A N/A

P Morgan  111,106 – N/A N/A N/A

Executives

V Cheung  – – – – –

M Delauney  10,000 – – – 10,000

A Gelemanovic  N/A – – N/A –

R Hoare  – – – – –

L Jackson  20,000 – 20,000 – 40,000

B Liu  – – – – –

M Melis  – – – – –

Total  2,601,172 – 436,666 (56,837) 2,981,001

# All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered into under terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

During the year key management personnel were eligible to acquire shares through participation in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
offered to all shareholders.
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Note 32. Key Management Personnel continued

(f) Loans to Key Management Personnel (Consolidated)
(i) Details of aggregates of loans to key management personnel are as follows:

 Balance at Balance at    Number in
 beginning end of Interest Interest  group at
 of period period  charged  not charged Repaid end of 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 period

2006 549 222 31 – (475) 2

2005 687 549 74 – (333) 2

(ii) Details of individuals with loans above $100,000 in the reporting period are as follows:

 Balance at Balance at    Highest
 beginning end of Interest Interest  owing in
 of period period  charged  not charged Repaid period
30 June 2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Directors

M Kirkby 475 – 18 – (475) 475

Executives

L Jackson 74 111 5 – – 111

P Milburn N/A 111 8 – – 111

 Balance at Balance at    Highest
 beginning end of Interest Interest  owing in
 of period period  charged  not charged Repaid period
30 June 2005 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Directors

J Hersch 333 – 15 – (333) 655

M Kirkby 317 475 59 – – 475

Terms and conditions of loans
Housewares International Limited has provided loans to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company. The loans 
were issued in accordance with the terms of the Housewares International Senior Executive Option Plan such that interest on the 
loan equals the dividends and other distributions payable from time to time on the company shares acquired with the loan.

(g) Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel
Services
Mr Klein is a partner of the legal fi rm Arnold Bloch Leibler, and his fees of $59,950 (2005: $53,955) are paid to Arnold Bloch 
Leibler. These fees include GST. Legal services totalling $869,377 (2005: $406,879), including Mr Klein’s directors fees, GST and 
disbursements, such as Counsel’s fees, were provided by Arnold Bloch Leibler to the consolidated group during the year. The fees 
paid for these services are all at arm’s length.

During the previous year, a subsidiary of Housewares International Limited received consulting services of $4,400, including GST, 
from John Schmoll & Associates, which is wholly owned by Mr J Schmoll. The fees paid for these services are at arm’s length.

There have been no other transactions concerning key management personnel during the year.
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Note 32. Key Management Personnel continued

(g) Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel continued

Amounts recognised at the reporting date in relation to other transaction and balances with key management personnel:

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005  2006  2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets & liabilities
Current assets

Legal services associated with the business combination of the Britette
Australia Pty Ltd business (2005: SABCO business) recognised as part
of consideration paid and consequently recognised as part of goodwill  24 215 – –

Total assets  24 215 – –

Revenues & expenses
Employee expenses (directors fees)  (55) (37) – –

Other expenses from ordinary activities  (711) (418) – –

Total expenses  (766) (455) – –

The amounts shown above are GST exclusive.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2006  2005 2006  2005

Note 33. Auditor’s Remuneration

Amounts received or due and receivable from the entity
and any other entity in the consolidated entity:

Ernst & Young Australia

– an audit or review of the fi nancial report  220,450 220,450 75,750 57,750

– other services

 – tax compliance  89,000 111,250 – –

 – tax consolidation  – 20,750 – –

 – assurance related  18,000 55,000 – –

 – AIFRS related  91,750 5,500 – –

Ernst & Young Australia’s affi liates

– an audit or review of the fi nancial report  107,000 103,667 – –

– other services

 – tax compliance  17,000 4,000 – –

  543,200 520,617 75,750 57,750
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Note 34. Signifi cant Events 
after year-end

Subsequent to 30 June 2006, the 
directors have declared a fully-
franked fi nal dividend of 3.5 cents per 
share (2005: 3.5 cents per share). 
In accordance with the Company’s 
accounting policy no liability is 
recognised at 30 June 2006.

No other matters or circumstances have 
arisen since the end of the year, which 
signifi cantly affected or may affect the 
operations of the consolidated entity.

The fi nancial report of Housewares 
International Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2006 was authorised for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 28 August 2006.

Note 35. Transition to AIFRS

The consolidated entity changed its 
accounting policies on 1 July 2005 to 
comply with AIFRS. The consolidated 
entity has prepared its fi rst set of 
fi nancial reports applying AIFRS for the 
Year-ended 30 June 2006.

The transition to AIFRS is accounted 
for in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 1 First-time Adoption 
of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards, with 
1 July 2004 as the date of transition, 
except for fi nancial instruments, 
including derivatives, where the date of 
transition is 1 July 2005. Comparatives 
for the year-ended 30 June 2005 were 
remeasured and restated in accordance 
with AIFRS.

The following key differences in 
accounting policy arising from 
the application of AIFRS are 
disclosed below.

(a) Intangible assets – other
Under AASB 138 Intangible Assets 
revaluation of intangible assets is only 
allowed when it represents a fair value 
determination by reference to an active 
market. Upon transition to AIFRS a 
previous revaluation of the Groups’ 
brand names was reversed, resulting 
in a decrease in the carrying value of 
intangible assets and a decrease in the 
revaluation reserve by $3,999,000.

Software assets and deferred 
development costs were reclassifi ed 
from other current and non-current 
assets to intangible assets on transition 
to AASB 138. This reclassifi cation 
increased intangible assets by 
$1,223,000 as at transition date.

(b) Business combinations
AASB 3 Business Combinations was 
not applied retrospectively to past 
business combinations (i.e. business 
combinations that occurred before 1 
July 2005).

Previously under AGAAP goodwill was 
amortised over the period of expected 
benefi t, not exceeding 20 years. Under 
AASB 3 Business Combinations 
goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is not amortised, but 
instead is subject to impairment testing 
at each reporting date, or upon the 
occurrence of triggers that may indicate 
a potential impairment. Consequently, 
any amortisation of goodwill that was 
reported under previous AGAAP 
subsequent to 1 July 2004 was 
reversed for AIFRS restatements. The 
effect of this is to increase the carrying 
amount of goodwill and the net profi t 
before tax by $1,818,000 for the year 
ended 30 June 2005.

The company has made a similar 
election not to restate past investments 
in jointly controlled entities that occurred 
before 1 July 2004. Consequently, the 
effect of adopting AASB 131 Interests 
in Joint Ventures will also be limited 
to no longer amortising the excess 
of the purchase consideration of the 
fair value of jointly controlled entities 
assets acquired. As a result the 
carrying amount of the investments 
in jointly controlled entities and the 
equity accounted profi t will increase 
by $163,000 for the year ended 
30 June 2005.

(c) Foreign exchange
Upon transition to AASB 121 The Effects 
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, 
the Group elected to reset the foreign 
currency translation reserve to zero 
under the exemption permitted under 
AASB 1. As a result, reserves increased 
and retained earnings decreased by 
$3,235,000 on transition as at 1 July 
2004. These translation differences 
will be excluded from the calculation 
of any gain or loss on any subsequent 
disposal of the foreign operation.

(d) Share-based payments
Share-based payment costs were not 
previously recognised under AGAAP. 
Under AASB 2 Share-based Payment 
the Group now recognises an expense 
for share-based remuneration, which 
is determined at the grant date with 
reference to their fair value of the equity 
instruments issued. The fair value is 
calculated using an appropriate valuation 
technique to estimate the price of those 
equity instruments in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable and 
willing parties. The fair value calculated 
is charged against profi t on a pro-rata 
basis over the relevant vesting periods, 
adjusted to refl ect actual and expected 
levels of vesting, with a corresponding 
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adjustment to equity. Under the 
transitional exemptions the group has 
only applied this to equity instruments 
granted after 7 November 2002 (the 
effective date of IFRS 2) that had not 
vested on or before 1 January 2005.

Upon transition this increased reserves 
and decreased retained earnings by 
$153,000. During the year-ended 
30 June 2005 the reserves increased 
to $206,000 and profi t before tax 
decreased by $53,000.

The company’s Senior Executive Option 
Plan (SEOP1) entitles employees to 
exercise their share options with non-
recourse loans which are secured by 
a lien over the issued shares. As a 
result, the shares issued under SEOP1, 
in conjunction with the non-recourse 
loans, have been accounted for as 
options until repayment in accordance 
with AASB 2 Share-based Payment. 
Previously under AGAAP, the company 
recognised the shares issued as 
capital and a corresponding receivable. 
Consequently, the outstanding balance 
of these loans at 1 July 2004 (current 
receivables of $505,000 and non-
current receivables of $983,000) 
was deducted from share capital for 
$1,488,000. A previous AGAAP net 
realisable value adjustment against 
these non-recourse loans of $14,000 
(tax-effected) has been reversed under 
AIFRS during the year ended 30 June 
2005.

(e) Revenue from sale of 
property plant and equipment
Under previous AGAAP, the gross 
proceeds on sale of non-current assets 
were recognised as revenue and the 
cost in other expenses. The adoption 
of AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 116 
Property Plant and Equipment will result 
in the gain or loss on disposal of an item 
of property plant and equipment being 
recognised on a net basis as revenue 
or expense. This resulted in proceeds 

from the sale of non-current assets 
being reclassifi ed from “revenue from 
ordinary activities” to other income and 
expense items in the income statement. 
For the year ended 30 June 2005, 
revenue decreased by $309,000, other 
expenses decreased by $410,000 and 
a loss on sale of non-current assets 
of $101,000 will be recognised from a 
disclosure perspective.

(f) Income taxes
AASB 112 Income Taxes requires the 
consolidated entity to use a “balance 
sheet approach”, rather than the 
“income statement approach” required 
under previous AGAAP. The balance 
sheet method recognises deferred tax 
balances where there is a difference 
between the carrying value of an asset 
or liability and its tax base.

As outlined in the company’s 30 June 
2005 annual report, the AIFRS project 
team’s review of the full extent of the 
deferred tax balances was not yet 
complete, but it was foreshadowed 
that the adoption of the “balance sheet 
approach” would result in a number of 
additional deferred tax balances being 
recognised, as well as adjustments to 
existing deferred tax balances.

Upon transition to AIFRS, the Group 
has recognised a deferred tax liability 
associated with brand names acquired 
in a previous business combination 
of $1,875,000. Under the transitional 
arrangements of AASB 1 First-time 
Adoption of Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting 
Standards, this deferred tax liability has 
been adjusted against retained earnings 
as at 1 July 2004.

(g) Financial instruments
The Company has elected to apply the 
fi rst-time adoption exemption to defer the 
date of transition of AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement to 

1 July 2005. Accordingly, there 
are no quantitative impacts on the 
30 June 2005 fi nancial statements.

The consolidated entity enters into a 
variety of derivative fi nancial instruments 
to manage its exposure to interest rate 
and foreign currency risk. Under AASB 
139 specifi c criteria are required to be 
met in order for hedging instruments 
to qualify for hedge accounting 
treatment. Changes in the fair value of 
cash fl ow hedges qualifying for hedge 
accounting will be recognised directly 
in equity until the underlying hedged 
transaction occurs, with these changes 
offsetting changes in the fair value of 
the underlying asset or liability. Changes 
in the fair value of derivatives classifi ed 
as fair value hedges will be recognised 
in profi t or loss as will the changes in 
the fair value of the underlying hedged 
transaction.

For derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting, any gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are 
taken directly to the income statement.

(h) Employee benefi ts
Under previous AGAAP, no liability was 
recognised for the net position of the 
post employment plan in Hong Kong. 
This was recognised on 1 July 2005 in 
accordance with AASB119 Employee 
Benefi ts, with a corresponding 
adjustment to retained earnings.

A revised AASB119 was issued in 
December 2005 and applies to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2006. We have elected under 
s.334(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 
to early adopt this revised accounting 
standard for the year commencing 1 
July 2005.

The impacts of adopting AIFRS on 
the total equity and profi t after tax as 
reported under Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable before 1 January 
2005 (‘AGAAP’) are illustrated below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

for the Year ended 30 June 2006

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
  2005  2004  2005  2004
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 35. Transition to AIFRS continued

(i) Reconciliation of total equity as presented
under AGAAP to that under AIFRS

Total equity under AGAAP  159,598 158,746 123,833 118,119

Adjustments to equity:
Reversal of revaluation to brand names (a) (3,999) (3,999) – –

Write-back goodwill amortisation (b) 1,818 – – –

Write-back goodwill amortisation associated
with investment in jointly controlled entities (b) 163 – – –

Recognition of long-term employee benefi t (h) (82) (83) – –

Treatment of non-recourse loans issued
under the SEOP as options (d) (1,095) (1,488) (1,095) (1,488)

Recognition of deferred tax liability associated
with brand names acquired (f) (1,875) (1,875) – –

Recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities (f) (266) (509) (5) –

  (5,336) (7,954) (1,100) (1,488)

Total equity under AIFRS  154,262 150,792 122,733 116,631

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June  30 June
   2005    2005
 Note $’000  $’000

(ii) Reconciliation of profi t after tax
under AGAAP to that under AIFRS

Profi t after tax as previously reported under AGAAP  13,231  15,437

Write-back of goodwill amortisation (b) 1,818  –

Adjustment to share of jointly controlled entities as a result
of the write-back of goodwill amortisation associated with
investment in jointly controlled entities (b) 163  –

Recognition of share-based payment expense (d) (53)  (53)

Reversal of net realisable value adjustment
against non-recourse loans (d) 14  14

Recognition of long-term employee benefi t (h) (3)  –

Tax effect of AIFRS adjustments in current period  (548)  –

  1,391  (39)

Profi t after tax under AIFRS  14,622  15,398

(iii) Explanation of material adjustments to the cash fl ow statements
There are no material differences between the cash fl ow statements presented under AIFRS and those presented under AGAAP.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Housewares International Limited, I state that:

1. In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the fi nancial report and the additional disclosures included in the directors’ report designated as audited, of the company 
and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2006 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with 
sections 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2006.

3. In the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members 
of the Closed Group identifi ed in Note 29(a) will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become 
subject, by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

On behalf of the Board

Joseph Hersch
Director

Sydney
28 August 2006

Directors’ Declaration
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Independent Audit Report
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

to the Directors of Housewares International Limited



97HWI Annual Report 2006

Shareholder Information

Substantial Shareholders as at 28 August 2006
The following information is extracted from the company’s register of substantial shareholders

   Number of  Percentage of
Name    ordinary shares   ordinary shares

Lew Custodians Pty Limited   33,157,111  26.86

Perpetual Trustees Australia Limited   13,368,797  10.83

Paradice Investment Management Limited   9,169,738  7.43

Perennial Investment Partners Limited   7,781,264  6.30

Renaissance Smaller Companies Pty Limited   7,600,396  6.16

Investors Mutual Limited   7,433,493  6.02

(a) The interests of S.Lew Custodians Pty Limited include a deemed relevant interest in the 26,903,207 shares held by 
Premier Investments Limited.

Distribution of Shareholdings as at 28 August 2006

Size of Holding    Ordinary shareholders

1 to 1,000     440

1,001 to 5,000     1,314

5,001 to 10,000     731

10,001 to 100,000     713

100,001 and over     39

Total shareholders     3,237

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable parcel    154

Voting Rights
All ordinary shares issued by Housewares International Limited carry one vote per share without restriction.
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Shareholder Information (continued)

Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 28 August 2006

   Number of   Percentage of
Name   ordinary shares   ordinary shares

Premier Investments Limited   26,903,207  21.79

National Nominees Limited   10,253,670  8.31

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited   9,888,203  8.01

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited   7,953,393  6.44

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited
(PIIC account)   6,732,454  5.45

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited
(BKCUST account)   6,186,018  5.01

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited
(PIPOOLED account)   5,334,090  4.32

UCA Growth Fund Limited   3,000,000  2.43

Queensland Investment Corporation C/- National Nominees Limited  2,122,502  1.72

Berne No 132 Nominees Pty Limited   1,840,800  1.49

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited   1,829,766  1.48

ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Income account)   1,648,452  1.34

Nofusa Pty Limited   1,559,958  1.26

CIM Dividend Income Fund Limited   1,360,000  1.10

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited   1,291,468  1.05

Lew Family Investments Limited   1,238,850  1.00

S L Nominees Pty Limited   1,035,219  0.84

ANZ Nominees Limited (Income Reinvestment Plan account)   955,166  0.77

Lew Family Investments Pty Limited   600,000  0.49

Rubicon Nominees Pty Limited   600,000  0.49

Total   92,333,216  74.79
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Directors

John Schmoll

Non-Executive Chairman

Joseph Hersch

Managing Director

Steven Fisher

Non-Executive Director

Steven Klein

Non-Executive Director

John McConnell

Non-Executive Director

Company Secretaries

Laurelle Jackson

Paul Milburn

Registered Offi ce

461 Plummer Street
Port Melbourne Victoria 3207
Telephone (+613) 8698 2800

Principal Place of Business

461 Plummer Street
Port Melbourne Victoria 3207
Telephone (+613) 8698 2800

Company Websites

www.housewares.com.au
www.breville.com.au

Share Register

Computershare Investor Services 
Pty Ltd
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067

Enquiries with Australia: 1300 850 505
Enquiries outside Australia: 
(+613) 9415 4000

Website: www.computershare.com

Auditors 

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Solicitors

Arnold Bloch Leibler
333 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Bankers

Australia and New Zealand Banking
Group Limited
530 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000

This annual report covers both 
Housewares International Limited 
(Parent) as an individual entity and 
the consolidated entity (Group) 
comprising Housewares International 
Limited and its subsidiaries.

A description of the Group’s operations 
and of its principal activities is included 
in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on pages 17 to 
18. The directors’ report is not part of 
the fi nancial report.

Company Directory
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